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PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1.

THE BOSTON BEER COMPANY, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands, except share data)

ASSETS
Current Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Short-term investments
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $199 and $116 as of April 1, 2006 and
December 31, 2005, respectively
Inventories
Prepaid expenses and other assets
Deferred income taxes
Total current assets
Property, plant and equipment, net
Other assets
Goodwill

Total assets

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current Liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses
Total current liabilities
Deferred income taxes
Other long-term liabilities
Total liabilities

Commitments and Contingencies

Stockholders’ Equity:

Class A Common Stock, $.01 par value; 22,700,000 shares authorized; 9,921,018 and 9,814,457
issued and outstanding as of April 1, 2006 and December 31, 2005, respectively

Class B Common Stock, $.01 par value; 4,200,000 shares authorized; 4,107,355 issued and outstanding

Additional paid-in-capital

Unearned compensation

Accumulated other comprehensive loss, net of tax

Retained earnings
Total stockholders’ equity
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity

April 1,
2006

(unaudited)

$ 59,173

15,820
13,367
1,980
829
91,169
26,310
2,174
1,377

5121030

$ 10,573
16,970
27,543

2,390
1,897
31,830

99
41
73,709

(196)

15,547
89,200

$ 121,030

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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December 31,
2005

$ 41,516
22,425

9,534
13,649
1,236

829
89,189
26,525
1,963
1,377

$ 119,054

$ 11,378
17,361
28,739

2,390
1,946
33,075

98

41

70,808
(353)

(196)
15,581
85,979

$ 119,054
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THE BOSTON BEER COMPANY, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Revenue

Less excise taxes
Net revenue

Cost of goods sold
Gross profit

Operating expenses:
Advertising, promotional and selling expenses
General and administrative expenses
Total operating expenses
Operating income
Other income, net:
Interest income, net
Other income, net
Total other income, net

Income before provision for income taxes
Provision for income taxes

Net income

Net income per common share — basic

Net income per common share — diluted

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(in thousands, except per share data)
(unaudited)

Weighted-average number of common shares — basic

Weighted-average number of common shares — diluted

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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Three months ended

April 1,
2006
$ 62,738
5,850
56,888
24,215
32,673

25,378
4,926
30,304
2,369

588
61
649
3,018
1,197

$ 1,821

$ 013
$ 013

13,856
14,293

March 26,
2005

$53,625
4,916
48,709
18,877
29,832

19,808
4,020
23,828
6,004

301

158

459
6,463
2,500

$ 3,963

$ 028
$ 027

14,275
14,698
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THE BOSTON BEER COMPANY, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(in thousands)
(unaudited)

Cash flows provided by operating activities:
Net income
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Bad debt expense
Stock-based compensation expense
Deferred income taxes
Excess tax benefit from stock-based compensation arrangements
Purchases of trading securities
Proceeds from sale of trading securities
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable
Inventories
Prepaid expenses and other assets
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses
Other long-term liabilities

Net cash provided by operating activities

Cash flows used in investing activities:
Purchases of property, plant and equipment
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment
Increase in other long-term assets

Net cash used in investing activities

Cash flows provided by financing activities:
Repurchase of Class A common stock
Proceeds from exercise of stock options
Excess tax benefit from stock-based compensation arrangements
Net proceeds from sale of investment shares

Net cash provided by financing activities

Change in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Income taxes paid

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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Three months ended

April 1,
2006

$ 1,821

1,131
26
105
378
(587)
(6,050)
28,475

(6,391)
282
(458)
(805)
196
(49)
18,074

(907)
1
(45)

(951)

(1,855)
1,764
587
38

534
17,657

41,516

$ 59,173

$§ 255

March 26,
2005

$ 3,963

980

36
(422)

413
(1,500)

1,600

2,337
(194)
(4,657)
(3,780)
5,645

4,421

(2,465)

(2,465)

697

76
773

2,729
35,794

$ 38,523

$ 856
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THE BOSTON BEER COMPANY, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A. Organization and Basis of Presentation

The Boston Beer Company, Inc. and its subsidiaries (the “Company”) are engaged in the business of selling low alcoholic beverages throughout the United
States and in selected international markets, under the trade names, “The Boston Beer Company,” “Twisted Tea Brewing Company,” and “HardCore Cider
Company.” The Company’s Samuel Adams® beers and Sam Adams Light® are produced and sold under the trade name, “The Boston Beer Company.” The
accompanying consolidated statement of financial position as of April 1, 2006 and the statements of consolidated operations and consolidated cash flows for
the interim periods ending April 1, 2006 and March 26, 2005 have been prepared by the Company, without audit, in accordance with U.S. generally accepted
accounting principles for interim financial information and pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission. Accordingly,
they do not include all of the information and footnotes required for complete financial statements by generally accepted accounting principles and should be
read in conjunction with the audited financial statements included in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2005.

Management’s Opinion

In the opinion of the Company’s management, the Company’s unaudited consolidated financial position as of April 1, 2006 and the results of its consolidated
operations and consolidated cash flows for the interim periods ended April 1, 2006 and March 26, 2005, reflect all adjustments (consisting only of normal
and recurring adjustments) necessary to present fairly the results of the interim periods presented. The operating results for the interim periods presented are
not necessarily indicative of the results expected for the full year.

Reclassifications

Certain amounts in the accompanying consolidated financial statements for the interim period ended March 26, 2005 have been reclassified to permit
comparison with the presentation for the interim period ended April 1, 2006. Specifically, the Company has reclassified the cash flows from activities of its
trading securities from cash flows from investing activities to cash flows from operating activities. The net impact was an increase in cash flows from
operating activities and a decrease in cash flows from investing activities by $0.1 million for the interim period ended March 26, 2005.

B. Short-Term Investments

The Company’s short-term investments consisted of municipal auction rate securities as of March 26, 2005, and were classified as trading securities, which
are recorded at fair market value and whose change in fair market value, if any, is recorded in earnings. As of April 1, 2006, the Company had liquidated all
of its short-term investments in municipal auction rate securities and invested the proceeds in highly liquid money market funds.

The Company recorded no realized gains or losses on short-term investments for the interim periods ended April 1, 2006 and March 26, 2005.
C. Inventories

Inventories consist of raw materials, work in process and finished goods. Raw materials, which principally consist of hops, brewing materials and
packaging, are stated at the lower of cost, determined on the first-in, first-out basis, or market. The cost elements of work in process and finished goods
inventory consist of raw materials, direct labor and manufacturing overhead. Inventories consist of the following:
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THE BOSTON BEER COMPANY, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

April 1, December 31,
2006 2005
(in thousands)
Raw materials, principally hops $ 11,116 $ 11,354
Work in process 1,038 1,192
Finished goods 1,213 1,103
$ 13,367 $§ 13,649

D. Net Income per Share

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted earnings per share:

For the three months ended

April 1, 2006 March 26, 2005
(in thousands, except per share data)

Net income $ 1,821 $ 3,963
Shares used in net income per common share — basic 13,856 14,275
Effect of dilutive securities:

Stock options 429 423

Non-vested investment shares and restricted stock 8 o
Dilutive potential common shares 437 423
Shares used in net income per common share — diluted 14,293 14,698
Net income per common share — basic $ 0.13 $ 0.28
Net income per common share — diluted $ 0.13 $ 0.27

E. Comprehensive Income

Comprehensive income represents net income, plus minimum pension liability adjustment. The minimum pension liability adjustments for the interim periods
ended April 1, 2006 and March 26, 2005 were immaterial.

F. Commitments and Contingencies

Purchase Commitments
The Company had outstanding non-cancelable purchase commitments related to advertising contracts of approximately $8.8 million at April 1, 2006.

The Company has entered into contracts for the supply of a portion of its hops requirements. These purchase contracts extend through crop year 2010 and
specify both the quantities and prices, denominated mostly in Euros, to which the Company is committed. Hops purchase commitments outstanding at
April 1, 2006 totaled $8.0 million, based on the exchange rates at April 1, 2006.

Other outstanding purchase commitments totaled $1.3 million at April 1, 2006.
Lease Commitments
The Company has lease commitments for office space and equipment.

On March 24, 2006, the Company entered into a new agreement to lease office space for purpose of relocating its corporate offices within the City of Boston.
The lease has a term of 124 months and expires in 2017, with an option to renew for a five year period. The lease also includes scheduled rent increases over
the term of the lease.
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THE BOSTON BEER COMPANY, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Aggregate minimum annual rental payments under lease agreements are as follows:

(in thousands)

Under 1 year $ 755
1-3 years 1,444
3-5 years 1,305
Thereafter 4241
Total $ 7,745

G. Stock-Based Compensation
Employee Stock Compensation Plan

The Company’s Employee Equity Incentive Plan (the “Equity Plan™) currently provides for the grant of discretionary options and restricted stock awards to
employees; it also provides for shares issued to employees of the Company under its investment share program. The Plan is administered by the Board of
Directors of the Company, based on recommendations received from the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors. The Compensation Committee
consists of three independent directors. In determining the quantities and types of awards for grant, the Compensation Committee periodically reviews the
objectives of the Company’s compensation system and takes into account the position and responsibilities of the employee being considered, the nature and
value to the Company of his or her service and accomplishments, his or her present and potential contributions to the success of the Company, the value of the
type of awards to the employee and such other factors as the Compensation Committee deems relevant.

Stock options and related vesting requirements and terms are granted at the Board of Directors’ discretion, but generally vest ratably over five-year periods
and, with respect to certain members of senior management, based on the Company’s performance, with a maximum contractual term of ten years. During the
interim period ended April 1, 2006, the Company granted 94,000 options to purchase shares of its Class A common stock to employees at market price. The
number of these options that will vest over five years depends on the level of performance targets attained in 2006.

Restricted stock awards are also granted at the Board of Directors’ discretion. During the interim period ended April 1, 2006, the Company granted 32,079
shares of restricted stock awards to certain senior managers and key employees, which vest ratably over service periods of five years. No restricted stock
awards were granted prior to January 1, 2006. The issuance of restricted stock awards in 2006 resulted from the Company’s continued evaluation of employee
preference in the types of stock awards to be issued to them as part of their total compensation package.

The Equity Plan also has an investment share program which permits employees who have been with the Company for at least one year to purchase shares of
Class A Common Stock at a discount from current market value of 0% to 40%, based on the employee’s tenure with the Company. Investment shares vest
ratably over service periods of five years. Participants may pay for these shares either up front or through payroll deductions over an eleven-month period
during the year of purchase. During the interim period ended April 1, 2006, employees elected to purchase an aggregate of 19,577 investment shares.

The Company has reserved 3.7 million shares of Class A Common Stock for issuance pursuant to the Equity Plan, of which 0.1 million shares were
available for grant as of April 1, 2006. Cancelled employee stock options are returned to the reserve under the Equity Plan for future grants.

Non-Employee Director Options

The Company has a stock option plan for non-employee directors of the Company (the “Non-Employee Director Plan”), pursuant to which each non-employee
director of the Company is granted an option to purchase shares of the Company’s Class A Common Stock upon election or re-election to the Board of
Directors. Stock options issued to non-employee directors vest upon grant and have a maximum contractual term of ten years. During the interim period ended
April 1, 2006, the Company granted options to purchase an aggregate of 6,000 shares of the Company’s Class A Common Stock to a non-employee director.
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THE BOSTON BEER COMPANY, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

The Company has reserved 0.4 million shares of Class A Common Stock for issuance pursuant to the Non-Employee Director Plan, of which 0.1 million
shares were available for grant as of April 1, 2006. Cancelled non-employee directors’ stock options are returned to the reserve under the Equity Plan for future
grants.

Adoption of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123 (revised)

On January 1, 2006, the Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123 (revised), Share-Based Payment (“SFAS No. 123R”),
which generally requires recognition of share-based compensation costs based on fair value in financial statements. Prior to the adoption of SFAS No. 123R,
the Company accounted for share-based compensation using the intrinsic value method under Accounting Principals Board (“APB”) Opinion No. 25,
Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees , and related interpretations and provided pro forma disclosures applying the fair value recognition provisions of
SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation , to stock-based awards. For the interim period ended April 1, 2006, the effect of the adoption of
SFAS No. 123R was a decrease to income before provision for income taxes by $0.3 million and a decrease to net income by $0.2 million, or $0.01 per basic
and diluted common share. The following table illustrates the effect on net income and net income per share if the Company had recognized stock-based
compensation expense under the fair value method for the interim period ended March 26, 2005:

For the three months ended
March 26, 2005
(in thousands,

except per
share data)
Net income, as reported $ 3,963
Add: Stock-based employee compensation expense reported in net income, net of tax effects 22
Deduct: Total stock-based compensation expense determined under fair value based method for
all awards, net of related tax effects (283)
Pro forma net income $ 3,702
Net income per share:
Basic — as reported $ 0.28
Basic — pro forma $ 0.26
Diluted — as reported $ 0.27
Diluted — pro forma $ 0.25

Further, SFAS No. 123R requires that cash retained as a result of tax benefits in excess of recognized compensation costs relating to share-based awards is
presented in the statement of cash flows as a financing cash inflow, while this amount was presented in operating cash flow activities prior to the adoption of
SFAS No. 123R. Consequently, the adoption of SFAS No. 123R decreased cash flow from operating activities and increased cash flow from financing
activities by $0.6 million for the interim period ended April 1, 2006. Total cash flow remains unchanged from what would have been reported under the prior
accounting rules.

As permitted by SFAS No. 123R, the Company elected to use the modified-prospective application as its transition method, under which SFAS No. 123R
applies to new awards and to awards modified, repurchased, or cancelled after the statement’s effective date, January 1, 2006. Additionally, compensation
cost for the portion of awards for which the requisite service has not been rendered that are outstanding on January 1, 2006 is recognized based on the fair
value estimated on grant date and as the requisite service is rendered on or after January 1, 2006. Prior period financial statements are not restated to reflect the
effect of SFAS 123R under the modified-prospective transition method. Consequently, included in the Company’s statements of operations for the interim
periods ended April 1, 2006 and March 26, 2005 was $0.4 million of stock-based compensation expense under SFAS No. 123R (or $0.2 million net of tax
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THE BOSTON BEER COMPANY, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

effects) and $36,000 of stock-based compensation expense under APB Opinion No. 25 (or $22,000 net of tax effects), respectively. Further, for the interim
period ended April 1, 2006, $0.2 million of stock-based compensation expense was included in advertising, promotional and selling expenses and
$0.2 million in stock-based compensation expense was included in general and administrative expenses.

For stock options granted prior to January 1, 2006, fair values were estimated on the date of grants using a Black-Scholes option-pricing model. As permitted
by SFAS No. 123R, the Company elected to use a binomial option-pricing model to estimate the fair values of stock options granted on or after January 1,
2006. The Company believes that the Black-Scholes option-pricing model is less effective than the binomial option-pricing model in valuing long-term options
as it assumes that volatility and interest rates are constant over the life of the option. In addition, the Company believes that the binomial option-pricing model
more accurately reflects the fair value of its stock awards, as it takes into account historical employee exercise patterns based on changes in the Company’s
stock price and other relevant variables. The weighted-average fair value of stock options granted during the interim period ended March 26, 2005 was $9.21
per share, as calculated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. The weighted-average fair value of stock options granted during the interim period
ended April 1, 2006 was $8.78 per share, as calculated using a binomial option-pricing model. Had the Company used the Black-Scholes option-pricing
model to value stock options granted during the interim period ended April 1, 2006, the weighted-average fair value would have been $10.81 per share and
stock-based compensation expense for the period would have been higher by $41,000.

Weighted average assumptions used to estimate fair values of stock options on the date of grants are as follows:

For the three months ended

April 1, March 26,
2006 2005
(Binomial (Black-Scholes

Model) Model)
Expected volatility 31.71% 34.22%
Expected life of option n 7.1 years
Risk-free interest rate 3.73% 3.48%
Expected dividends 0% 0%
Exercise factor 1.5 times *
Discount for post-vesting restrictions 6.6% *
A

The expected life of the option is an output of the binomial model, which is a weighted average of 8.0 years for options granted during the interim period
ended April 1, 2006.

* Assumption not considered in the Black-Scholes option-pricing model.

Expected volatility is based on the Company’s historical realized volatility. Expected life of an option is based on the Company’s historical experience of stock
options. The risk-free interest rate represents the implied yields available from the U.S. Treasury zero-coupon yield curve over the contractual term of the
option when using the binomial model and the implied yield available on U.S. Treasury zero-coupon issues with a remaining term equal to the expected term of
the option when using the Black-Scholes model. Expected dividend yield is 0% because the Company has not paid dividends in the past and currently has no
known intention to do so in the future. Exercise factor and discount for post-vesting restrictions are based on the Company’s historical experience.

Fair value of restricted stock awards granted during the interim period ended April 1, 2006 was based on the Company’s traded stock price on the date of the
grants.

The Company uses the straight-line attribution method in recognizing stock-based compensation expense for awards that vest based on service conditions. For
awards that vest subject to performance conditions, compensation expense is recognized ratably for each vesting tranche. These methods are consistent with
the methods the Company used in recognizing stock-based
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THE BOSTON BEER COMPANY, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

compensation expense for disclosure purposes under SFAS No. 123 prior to the adoption of SFAS No. 123R.

Under SFAS No. 123R, compensation expense is recognized less estimated forfeitures. For the interim period ended April 1, 2006, the estimated forfeiture rate
used in awards that vest based on service conditions was 15%, or $52,000. The forfeiture rate was based upon historical experience and the Company
periodically reviews this rate to ensure proper projection of future forfeitures. Additionally, based on historical experience, there are no significant differences in
actual forfeiture rates between groups of employees. No compensation expense was recognized for certain performance-based employee stock options during the
interim period ended April 1, 2006, nor will any until such time when the Company can estimate that it is probable performance targets will be met. For pro

forma compensation expense disclosure purposes for the interim period ended March 26, 2005, forfeitures are recognized as occurred according to SFAS
No. 123.

As of April 1, 2006, there were $3.2 million of unrecognized compensation costs, net of estimated forfeitures, related to unvested share-based compensation
arrangements that are expected to vest. That cost is recognized based on service condition and is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of
2.3 years. In addition, as of April 1, 2006, there were $4.0 million of unrecognized compensation costs related to an aggregate of 445,600 shares of unvested
employee stock options with vesting requirements based on the achievement of various performance targets through 2010. Assuming performance targets will

be met, unrecognized compensation costs associated with these performance-based employee stock options are expected to be recognized over a weighted-average
period of 2.3 years.

Option Activity

Stock option activity during the three months ended April 1, 2006 is as follows:

‘Weighted
Average
Number Exercise
of Shares Option Price Price
Outstanding at December 31, 2005 1,854,700 $ 0.01-$35.09 $ 16.18
Granted 100,000 $24.95-$26.33 25.20
Canceled (24,440) $14.47-$24.95 20.49
Exercised (133,700) $ 7.16-$21.14 15.31
Outstanding at April 1, 2006 1,796,560 $ 0.01-$35.09 $ 16.68
The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding at April 1, 2006:
Outstanding
Weighted Exercisable ‘Weighted
Average Weighted Weighted Average
Remaining Average Average Remaining
Number Contractual Exercise Number Exercise Contractual
Exercise Price of Shares Life Price of Shares Price Life
$0.01 1,917 0.91 years $ o0.01 1,917 $ o0.01 0.91 years
$7.16 - $9.53 399,560 3.09 years $ 8.95 399,560 $§ 8.95 3.09 years
$11.09 - $16.64 510,463 5.08 years $ 1447 380,563 $ 1420 4.43 years
$17.55 - $26.33 857,120 8.13 years $ 21.14 201,430 $ 19.39 6.63 years
$29.30 - $35.09 27,500 0.93 years $ 3246 17,500 $ 3095 0.93 years
1,796,560 6.03 years $ 16.68 1,000,970 $ 1342 4.27 years
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THE BOSTON BEER COMPANY, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

The total fair value of options vested during the interim period ended April 1, 2006 was $1.0 million. The aggregate intrinsic value of stock options exercised
during the interim period ended April 1, 2006 was $1.5 million. The aggregate intrinsic value of outstanding and exercisable stock options as of April 1, 2006
was $17.1 million and $12.8 million, respectively.

Non-Vested Shares Activity

The following table summarizes vesting activities of shares issued under the investment share program and restricted stock awards during the interim period
ended April 1, 2006:

‘Weighted
Average
Number Fair

of Shares Value
Non-vested at December 31, 2005 70,583 $ 8.50
Granted 51,656 20.38
Vested (22,753) 7.58
Forfeited (6,124) 13.85
Non-vested at April 1, 2006 93,362 $ 14.95

H. Subsequent Events

Effective April 3, 2006, the Company amended certain of the payment terms under its production contract with High Falls Brewing Company, LLC (“High
Falls”) to provide that the Company will henceforth buy directly or prepay High Falls for certain raw materials used in the brewing process, so that ownership
of these materials and work in process rests with the Company. Consistent with the amendment, the Company paid for and took title to raw materials then on
hand at High Falls. The Company has the right to rescind the amendment on thirty days notice.

Subsequent to April 1, 2006, the Company received the anticipated notice from Miller Brewing Company terminating the Company’s existing contract
relationship with Miller Brewing Company, effective October 31, 2008; the termination is in accordance with the contract and the 2003 arbitration award.
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PART 1. Item 2. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following is a discussion of the significant factors affecting the consolidated operating results, financial condition and liquidity and cash flows of the
Company for the three-month period ended April 1, 2006 as compared to the three-month period ended March 26, 2005. This discussion should be read in
conjunction with the Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations, and the Consolidated Financial Statements of
the Company and Notes thereto included in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2005.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Boston Beer’s flagship product is Samuel Adams Boston Lager ® . For purposes of this discussion, Boston Beer’s “core brands™ include all products sold

under the Samuel Adams® , Sam Adams® , Twisted Tea® and HardCore® trademarks. “Core brands” do not include the immaterial amount of products
brewed at the Cincinnati Brewery under contract arrangements for third parties.

Three Months Ended April 1, 2006 compared to Three Months Ended March 26, 2005

Net revenue. Net revenue increased by $8.2 million or 16.8% to $56.9 million for the three months ended April 1, 2006, as compared to $48.7 million for
the three months ended March 26, 2005. The increase was primarily due to an increase in the volume of Boston Beer’s core brands as well as price increases
of approximately 2% implemented during the first quarter of 2006.

Volume. Total shipment volume increased by 15.7% to 324,000 barrels for the three months ended April 1, 2006, as compared to 280,000 barrels for the three
months ended March 26, 2005. Contract shipment volume increased by 6,000 barrels for the first quarter 2006, over the three months ended March 26,
2005. Volume for the core brands increased by 13.7% to 316,000 barrels for the three months ended April 1, 2006, as compared to 278,000 barrels for the
three months ended March 26, 2005, due primarily to increased shipments of the Samuel Adams ® Brewmaster’s Collection, Samuel Adams ® Seasonal
brands and Twisted Tea®, and to a lesser extent, increased shipments of Sam Adams Light ®.

Shipments and orders in-hand for core brands suggests that shipments for the second quarter 2006 will be up approximately 17.0% compared to the same
period last year. Actual shipments may differ from this estimate and no inferences should be drawn with respect to shipments in future periods.

Depletions, or sales by the wholesalers to retailers, of the Company’s core products for the first quarter of 2006 increased by approximately 18% over the same
period in 2005. The Company believes that current wholesalers’ inventories are at appropriate levels.

Selling Price. The selling price per barrel for core brands increased by 2.1% to $178.49 per barrel for the three months ended April 1, 2006, as compared to
$174.82 for the same period last year. This increase is primarily due to the price increases implemented in the first quarter of 2006.

Gross profit. Gross profit for core products was $103.09 per barrel for the three months ended April 1, 2006, as compared to $107.31 for the three months
ended March 26, 2005. Gross margin for core products was 57.8% for the three months ended April 1, 2006, as compared to 61.4% for the three months
ended March 26, 2005. The decreases in gross profit per barrel and gross margin are primarily due to an increase in production, packaging, utility and in-
bound freight costs, the latter of which resulted from higher fuel costs. Additionally, gross profit per barrel and gross margin were negatively impacted by
increased state excise taxes related to Twisted Tea® due to changes in regulations. The cost increases that drove the decrease in gross margin are somewhat
offset by the increase in selling prices.

Cost of goods sold for core brands increased by $7.89 per barrel to $75.40 per barrel for the three months ended April 1, 2006, as compared to $67.51 per
barrel for the three months ended March 26, 2005. The increase is due primarily to higher manufacturing costs, including increases in utility, packaging
material and in-bound freight costs, increased manufacturing costs related to Twisted Tea® as a result of changes in formulation and new regulation
requirements, and a shift in the product mix.
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Item 2. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (continued)

The Company includes freight charges related to the movement of finished goods from its manufacturing locations to distributor locations in its advertising,
promotional and selling expense line item. As such, the Company’s gross margins may not be comparable to other entities that classify costs related to
distribution differently.

Adpvertising, promotional and selling. Advertising, promotional and selling expenses increased by $5.6 million, or 28.1%, to $25.4 million for the three
months ended April 1, 2006, as compared to $19.8 million for the three months ended March 26, 2005. Advertising, promotional and selling expenses for
core brands were 45.0% of net revenue, or $80.31 per barrel, for the three months ended April 1, 2006, as compared to 40.8% of net revenue, or $71.25 per
barrel, for the three months ended March 26, 2005. The increase is primarily due to the timing of point of sale merchandise costs, promotional commitment
expenditures and advertising spending relating to the “Take Pride in Your Beer” campaign, all of which had limited spending in the first quarter of 2005.
Increased freight costs for delivering products to customers due to rising fuel prices and the introduction of new tap handles in the first quarter 2006 also
contributed to higher advertising, promotional and selling expenses. To a lesser extent, salary increases and stock-based compensation expense related to the
sales force, the latter of which is being recognized upon the adoption of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123 (revised) (“SFAS No. 123R”) on
January 1, 2006, contributed to the increase in advertising, promotional and selling expenses.

The Company conducts certain advertising and promotional activities in the wholesalers” markets, and the wholesalers make contributions to the Company
for such efforts. These amounts are included in the Company’s statement of operations as reductions to advertising, promotional and selling expenses.
Historically, contributions from wholesalers for advertising and promotional activities have amounted to between 2% and 4% of net sales. The Company may
adjust its promotional efforts in the wholesalers’ markets if changes occur in these promotional contribution arrangements, depending on the industry and
market conditions.

General and administrative. General and administrative expenses increased by $0.9 million, or 22.5%, to $4.9 million for the three months ended April 1,
2006, as compared to $4.0 million for the same period last year. The increase primarily reflects an increase in salary and benefit costs, stock-based
compensation expense, insurance costs and legal fees.

Stock-Based Compensation Expense. For the interim period ended April 1, 2006, an aggregate of $0.4 million in stock-based compensation expense is
included in advertising, promotional and selling expense and general and administrative expenses. On January 1, 2006, the Company adopted SFAS

No. 123R, which generally requires recognition of share-based compensation costs based on fair value in financial statements. Prior to the adoption of SFAS
No. 123R, the Company accounted for share-based compensation using the intrinsic value method under Accounting Principals Board (“APB”’) Opinion
No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees , and related interpretations and provided pro forma disclosures applying the fair value recognition
provisions of SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation , to stock-based awards. For the interim period ended April 1, 2006, the effect of
the adoption of SFAS No. 123R was a decrease to income before provision for income taxes by $0.3 million and a decrease to net income by $0.2 million, or
$0.01 per basic and diluted common share. Because the Company elected to use the modified-prospective application as its transition method under SFAS
No. 123R, prior period financial statements were not restated. Had the Company recognized compensation expense under the fair value method during the
interim period ended March 26, 2005, such expense would have decreased income before provision for income taxes by $0.4 million and net income by
$0.3 million, or $0.02 per basic and diluted common share.

For stock options granted prior to January 1, 2006, fair values were estimated on the date of grants using a Black-Scholes option-pricing model. As permitted
by SFAS No. 123R, the Company elected to use a binomial option-pricing model to estimate the fair values of stock options granted on or after January 1,
2006. The Company believes that the Black-Scholes option-pricing model is less effective than the
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Item 2. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (continued)

binomial option-pricing model in valuing long-term options as it assumes that volatility and interest rates are constant over the life of the option. In addition,
the Company believes that the binomial option-pricing model more accurately reflects the fair value of its stock awards, as it takes into account historical
employee exercise patterns based on changes in the Company’s stock price and other relevant variables. The weighted-average fair value of stock options
granted during the interim period ended March 26, 2005 was $9.21 per share, as calculated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. The weighted-
average fair value of stock options granted during the interim period ended April 1, 2006 was $8.78 per share, as calculated using a binomial option-pricing
model. Had the Company used the Black-Scholes option-pricing model to value stock options granted during the interim period ended April 1, 2006, the
weighted-average fair value would have been $10.81 per share and stock-based compensation expense for the period would have been higher by $41,000.

Under SFAS No. 123R, compensation expense is recognized less estimated forfeitures. For the interim period ended April 1, 2006, the estimated forfeiture rate
used on awards that vest based on service conditions was 15%, or $52,000. The forfeiture rate was based upon historical experience and the Company
periodically reviews this rate to ensure proper projection of future forfeitures. Additionally, based on historical experience, there are no significant differences in
actual forfeiture rates between groups of employees. No compensation expense was recognized for certain performance-based employee stock options during the
interim period ended April 1, 2006, nor will any be recognized until such time when the Company can estimate that it is probable that performance targets will
be met. For pro forma compensation expense disclosure purposes for the interim period ended March 26, 2005, forfeitures were recognized as occurred
according to SFAS No. 123.

As of April 1, 2006, there were $3.2 million of unrecognized compensation costs, net of estimated forfeitures, related to unvested share-based compensation
arrangements that are expected to vest. That cost is recognized based on service condition and is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of

2.3 years. In addition, as of April 1, 2006, there were $4.0 million of unrecognized compensation costs related to an aggregate of 445,600 shares of unvested
employee stock options with vesting requirements based on the achievement of various performance targets through 2010. Assuming performance targets will
be met, unrecognized compensation costs associated with these performance-based employee stock options are expected to be recognized over a weighted-average
period of 2.3 years.

Total other income, net. Other income increased by $0.2 million during the quarter ended April 1, 2006 as compared to the quarter ended March 26, 2005.
This increase is due to higher interest yields in the investment portfolio, offset by other miscellaneous expenses.

Provision for income taxes. The Company’s effective tax rate increased to approximately 39.7% for the three months ended April 1, 2006 from 38.7% for the
same period last year. The increase in the effective tax rate, as compared to the prior year, is due to changes in the apportionment of income among states.

2006 Outlook

Based on current known information, the Company is facing overall production and freight cost increases of between 5% and 10% over full year 2005, which
could vary depending on actual energy costs during 2006, as well as other factors, and 2006 gross margin could be down 1% to 2% below full year 2005.

The Company still expects 2006 earnings per diluted share to be between $1.10 and $1.18, absent any significant change in currently planned levels of brand
support and before accounting for the impact of the adoption of FASB 123R, Share-Based Compensation, based on volume increases above the original
expectation for the full year offsetting these cost pressures. The Company estimates that its adoption of SFAS No. 123R will reduce earnings per diluted share
by between $0.06 and $0.11 in 2006, including a $0.01 per diluted share impact which has been recorded in the first quarter of 2006. This impact will
depend on the vesting of certain performance-based options. The Company’s ability to attain earnings growth in 2006 is dependent on achieving challenging
targets for volume, pricing and costs. The Company continues to pursue cost savings initiatives and pricing opportunities, and hopes to preserve its
economics to allow for continued investment in support of its brands in order to grow volume and earnings.
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Item 2. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (continued)
LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Cash and cash equivalents increased by $17.7 million to $59.2 million as of April 1, 2006 from $41.5 million as of December 31, 2005. For the three
months ended April 1, 2006, the increase in cash and cash equivalents was mainly due to cash flows from operating activities, which were due primarily to
the sale of short-term investments, and this increase was slightly offset by cash used in investing activities for the purchase of property, plant and equipment.

SFAS No. 123R requires that cash retained as a result of tax benefits in excess of recognized compensation costs relating to share-based awards be presented in
the statement of cash flows as a financing cash inflow, while this amount was presented in operating cash flow activities prior to the adoption of SFAS

No. 123R. Consequently, the adoption of SFAS No. 123R decreased cash flow from operating activities and increased cash flow from financing activities by
$0.6 million for the interim period ended April 1, 2006. Total cash flow remains unchanged from what would have been reported under the prior accounting
rules.

Cash flows from operating activities were $18.1 million and $4.4 million for the fiscal quarters ended April 1, 2006 and March 26, 2005, respectively. The
increase in cash flows from operating activities during the first quarter 2005 as compared to the prior year was primarily due to the sale of $22.4 million of
short-term investments. This increase was partially offset by an increase in accounts receivable, which is due mainly to the increase in shipment volume in the
first quarter 2006, and a decrease in net income for the first quarter 2006.

Cash flows used in investing activities decreased by $1.5 million due to higher purchases of property, plant and equipment in the first quarter 2005 related to
the expansion of the Cincinnati Brewery.

During the quarter ended April 1, 2006, the Company’s cash was primarily invested in high-grade taxable and tax-exempt money market funds and high-
grade municipal auction rate securities with short-term maturities. The objective is to preserve principal, maintain liquidity, optimize return on investment and
minimize expenses associated with the selection and management of investment securities. As of April 1, 2006, the Company had liquidated all of its short-
term investments in municipal auction rate securities and invested the proceeds in highly liquid money market funds.

The Company continues to evaluate its long term production strategy, including potential ownership or construction of a new brewery, or new contract
relationships. Subsequent to April 1, 2006, the Company received the anticipated notice from Miller Brewing Company terminating the Company’s existing
contract relationship with Miller Brewing Company, effective October 31, 2008; the termination is in accordance with the contract and the 2003 arbitration
award. While the Company believes that there will be adequate other contract capacity to absorb its production requirements at acceptable economics, there is
no guarantee that the current economics can be maintained. Accordingly, the Company is accelerating its review of available production options. If the
Company chooses to execute a strategy of 100% production capacity ownership and builds a brewery, it currently estimates that, based on building a brewery
in the Northeast, this could require a capital investment of $70.0 to $90.0 million over two years, with the expectation that there would be some improvement
in operating and freight costs resulting from this investment. This estimate could change based on the actual production capacity and capability built and also
based upon the Company’s consideration of long-term production and freight solutions for other areas of the United States. The Company currently estimates
total capital expenditures in 2006 to be between $7.0 and $10.0 million, but this estimate could change significantly based on the outcome of the Company’s
evaluation of its long term production strategy.

Cash flows from financing activities decreased by $0.2 million for the quarter ended April 1, 2006 as compared to the same period last year primarily due to
repurchases of the Company’s Class A Common Stock under its Stock Repurchase Program, partially offset by an increase in stock option exercises and an
increase due to including cash retained as a result of tax benefits in excess of recognized compensation costs relating to share-based awards as a financing
activity upon the adoption of SFAS No. 123R.

During the three months ended April 1, 2006, the Company repurchased $1.9 million of its Class A Common Stock. Through May 9, 2006, the Company
has repurchased a cumulative total of approximately 7.7 million shares of its Class A Common Stock for an aggregate purchase price of $89.2 million, and
had $10.8 million remaining on the $100.0 million share buyback program set by its Board of Directors. As of
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Item 2. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (continued)

May 9, 2006, the Company had 9.9 million shares of Class A Common Stock and 4.1 million shares of Class B Common Stock outstanding. The
Company continues to evaluate the best way to utilize its excess cash balance, and absent significant capital needs for its production strategy, expects to
continue the stock repurchase program within the parameters set by the Board of Directors.

With working capital of $63.6 million and $20.0 million in unused credit facilities as of April 1, 2006, the Company believes that its cash flows from
operations and existing resources should be sufficient to meet the Company’s short-term and long-term operating and capital requirements, based on its current
projections of capital expenditure. However, the current projections do not include any major brewery investments that could be required to transition the
Company’s brewing strategy to the 100% production capacity ownership currently under evaluation. If the Company pursues this strategy, it would potentially
seek alternative forms of funding, including, but not limited to borrowing arrangements with lending institutions. In such event, adequate funds may not be
available when needed, or, may be available only on terms which could have a negative impact on the Company’s business and results of operations. The
Company’s $20.0 million credit facility expires on March 31, 2007. As of the date of this filing, the Company is not in violation of any of its covenants under
the credit facility and there are no amounts outstanding under the credit facility.

THE POTENTIAL IMPACT OF KNOWN FACTS, COMMITMENTS, EVENTS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Off-balance Sheet Arrangements
At April 1, 2006, the Company did not have off-balance sheet arrangements as defined in Item 303(a)(4)(ii) of Regulation S-K.

Contractual Obligations

On March 24, 2006, the Company entered into a new agreement to lease office space for purpose of relocating its corporate offices within the City of Boston.
The lease has a term of 124 months and expires in 2017, with an option to renew for a five year period. The lease also includes scheduled rent increases over
the term of the lease.

The Company has lease commitments for office space and equipment, and minimum annual rental payments under these agreements are as follows.

(in thousands)

Under 1 year $ 755
1-3 years 1,444
3-5 years 1,305
Thereafter 4241
Total $ 7,745

Effective April 3, 2006, the Company amended certain of the payment terms under its production contract with High Falls Brewing Company, LLC (“High
Falls”) to provide that the Company will henceforth buy directly or prepay High Falls for certain raw materials used in the brewing process, so that ownership
of these materials and work in process rests with the Company. In connection with the amendment, the Company paid for and took title to raw materials then
on hand at High Falls. The Company has the right to rescind the amendment on 30 days notice.

Subsequent to April 1, 2006, the Company received the anticipated notice from Miller Brewing Company terminating the Company’s existing contract
relationship with Miller Brewing Company, effective October 31, 2008; the termination is in accordance with the contract and the 2003 arbitration award.
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Item 2. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (continued)

There were no other material changes outside of the ordinary course of the Company’s business to contractual obligations during the three month period ended
April 1, 2006.

Critical Accounting Policies
There were no material changes to the Company’s critical accounting policies during the three month period ended April 1, 2006. except as follows:

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company accounts for stock-based compensation in accordance with the fair value recognition provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards (“SFAS”) No. 123R. To calculate the fair value of options, the Company uses the Black-Scholes option-pricing model for grants issued prior to
January 1, 2006 and the binomial option-pricing model for grants issued on or after January 1, 2006. Both models require the input of subjective
assumptions. These assumptions include estimating the length of time employees will retain their vested stock options before exercising them (“expected
term”), the estimated volatility of the Company’s common stock price over the expected term, the expected dividend rate and expected exercise behavior. In
addition, an estimated forfeiture rate is applied in the recognition of the compensation charge. Changes in the subjective assumptions can materially affect the
amount of stock-based compensation expense recognized on the consolidated statements of income.

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

In this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and in other documents incorporated herein, as well as in oral statements made by the Company, statements that are
prefaced with the words “may,” “will,” “expect,” “anticipate,” “continue,” “estimate,” “project,” “intend,” “designed” and similar expressions, are intended to
identify forward-looking statements regarding events, conditions, and financial trends that may affect the Company’s future plans of operations, business
strategy, results of operations and financial position. These statements are based on the Company’s current expectations and estimates as to prospective events
and circumstances about which the Company can give no firm assurance. Further, any forward-looking statement speaks only as of the date on which such
statement is made, and the Company undertakes no obligation to update any forward-looking statement to reflect subsequent events or circumstances.
Forward-looking statements should not be relied upon as a prediction of actual future financial condition or results. These forward-looking statements, like
any forward-looking statements, involve risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from those projected or unanticipated. Such
risks and uncertainties include the factors set forth below in addition to the other information set forth in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and in the
section titled “Other Risks and Uncertainties” in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2005.

Item 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

2 < 2 2 2

Since December 31, 2005, there have been no significant changes in the Company’s exposures to interest rate or foreign currency rate fluctuations. The
Company currently does not enter into derivatives or other market risk sensitive instruments for the purpose of hedging or for trading purposes.

Item 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

As of April 1, 2006, the Company conducted an evaluation under the supervision and with the participation of the Company’s management, including the
Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer (its principal executive officer and principal financial officer, respectively) regarding the
effectiveness of the design and operation of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures as defined in Rule 13a-15 of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934 (the “Exchange Act”). Based upon that evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that the Company’s disclosure
controls and procedures were effective to ensure that information required to be disclosed by the Company in reports that it files or submits under the
Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the requisite time periods and that such disclosure controls and procedures were
effective to ensure that information required to be disclosed by the Company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is accumulated
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and communicated to its management, including its principal executive and principal financial officers, or persons performing similar functions, as
appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

There was no change in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the quarter ended April 1, 2006 that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

PART II. OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

The Company, along with numerous other beverage alcohol producers, has been named as a defendant in a number of class action law suits in several states
relating to advertising practices and under-age consumption. Each complaint contains substantially the same allegations that each defendant marketed its
products to under-age consumers and seeks an injunction and unspecified money damages on behalf of a class of parents and guardians. The Company has
been defending this litigation vigorously. In September 2005, one of the complaints was withdrawn by the plaintiffs. In February 2006, two of the complaints
were dismissed; however, the plaintiffs have appealed the dismissal in one of the actions. The actions are in their earliest stages and it is not possible at this
time to determine their likely impact on the Company.

In November 2004, Royal Insurance Company of America and its affiliate (“RICA”), the Company’s liability insurer during most of the period covered by the
above-referenced complaints, filed a complaint in Ohio seeking declaratory judgment that RICA owes no duty to defend or indemnify the Company in the
underlying actions filed in Ohio and has subsequently filed a motion for summary judgment. In July 2005, Royal Indemnity Company, successor in interest
to RICA and its affiliate (“Royal”), filed a complaint in New York seeking declaratory judgment that Royal owes no duty to defend or indemnify the Company
in five underlying actions filed in states other than Ohio. In August 2005, the Massachusetts Bay Insurance Company (“MBIC”), the Company’s liability
insurer for parts of 2004 and 2005, filed a complaint in Massachusetts seeking declaratory judgment that MBIC owes no duty to defend or indemnify the
Company in the underlying actions filed during the policy period and that MBIC owes no duty to contribute to any obligation of Royal to defend or indemnify
the Company as to those underlying actions. While all three declaratory judgment actions against the Company are in their very early stages, the Company
believes it has meritorious defenses, that it is entitled to insurance coverage of its defense costs with respect to the underlying class actions, and that it is
premature to litigate indemnification issues for the class actions. However, the Company is not able to predict at this time the ultimate outcome of these
insurance coverage disputes.

The Company is not a party to any other pending or threatened litigation, the outcome of which would be expected to have a material adverse effect upon its
financial condition or the results of its operations.

Item 1A. RISK FACTORS

In addition to the other information set forth in this report, careful consideration should be given to the factors discussed in Part I, “Item 1A. Risk Factors” in
the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2005, which could materially affect the Company’s business, financial
condition or future results. The risks described in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K are not the only risks facing the Company. Additional risks
and uncertainties not currently known to the Company or that it currently deems to be immaterial also may materially adversely affect its business, financial
condition and/or operating results.
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Item 2.

UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS

As of April 1, 2006, the Company has repurchased a cumulative total of approximately 7.7 million shares of its Class A Common Stock for an aggregate
purchase price of $89.2 million and had $10.8 million remaining on the $100.0 million share buyback expenditure limit.

During the three months ended April 1, 2006, the Company repurchased $1.9 million or 0.1 million shares of its Class A Common Stock as illustrated in the

table below:

Total Number of Approximate Dollar

Shares Purchased Value of Shares that
Total Number Average as Part of Publicly May Yet be

of Shares Price Paid Announced Plans Purchased Under the

Period Purchased per Share or Programs Plans or Programs
January 1, 2006 to February 4, 2006 42,437 $ 25.50 42,437 $ 11,600,558
February 5, 2006 to March 4, 2006 30,402 $ 2541 30,194 $ 10,829,058
March 5, 2006 to April 1, 2006 4,395 $ 1235 — $ 10,829,058
Total 77,234 $ 2472 72,631 $ 10,829,058

Of the shares that were purchased during the period, 4,603 shares represent repurchases of unvested investment shares issued under the Investment Share
Program of the Company’s Employee Equity Incentive Plan.

As of April 1, 2006, the Company had 9.9 million shares of Class A Common Stock outstanding and 4.1 million shares of Class B Common Stock

outstanding.

Item 3.

Item 4.

Item 5.

Item 6.

DEFAULTS UPON SENIOR SECURITIES

Not Applicable

SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

In January 2006, the sole holder of the Company’s Class B Common Stock increased the number of Class B Directors by one so that there
would be five (5) Class B Directors and appointed Jay Margolis as a Class B Director of the Company to serve until the next annual meeting
of Class B Stockholders and until his successor is duly elected and qualified.

In February 2006, the sole holder of the Company’s Class B Common Stock approved in all respects the action of the Compensation

Committee of the Board of Directors setting the bonus to be paid to the Company’s Chief Executive Officer for his performance against 2005
goals and his 2006 base annual salary.

OTHER INFORMATION

Not Applicable

EXHIBITS

Exhibit No. Title

*+10.5 Office Lease Agreement between Boston Design Center LLC and Boston Beer Corporation dated March 24,
2006.
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*31.1

*31.2

*32.1

*32.2

The information required by Exhibit 11 has been included in Note D of the notes to the consolidated financial
statements.

Certification of the President and Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Certification of the President and Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted
pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

* Filed with this report

+ Portions of this Exhibit have been omitted pursuant to an application for an order declaring confidential treatment filed with the Securities and Exchange

Commission.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this Form 10-Q to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

THE BOSTON BEER COMPANY, INC.
(Registrant)

Date: May 11, 2006 By: /s/ Martin F. Roper
Martin F. Roper
President and Chief Executive Officer
(principal executive officer)

Date: May 11, 2006 By: /s/ William F. Urich
William F. Urich
Chief Financial Officer
(principal accounting and financial officer)
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EXHIBIT 10.50
[ * ] DENOTES EXPURGATED INFORMATION

BOSTON DESIGN CENTER

Standard Office Lease Agreement

THIS LEASE AGREEMENT (the “Lease”) is made and entered into as of March 24, 2006, by and between Boston Design Center LLC, a Delaware
limited liability company (herein called the “Landlord”), which expression shall include its successors and assigns where the context so admits, whose
address is One Design Center Place, Suite 337, Boston, Massachusetts 02210 and Boston Beer Corporation, a Massachusetts corporation (herein called the
“Tenant”, whether one or more) whose address is: 75 Arlington Street, Boston, Massachusetts 02116 and whose telephone number is: 617-368-5000. If there
shall be more than one Tenant, their obligations hereunder shall be joint and several. As used in this Lease, the terms set forth in Articles I and VIII of this
Lease shall have the respective meanings indicated in such Articles.

Subject to all of the terms and conditions of this Lease, and in consideration of the covenants and obligations contained in this Lease, Landlord and Tenant
agree as follows:

ARTICLE 1
BASIC LEASE INFORMATION

Leased Premises shall mean Spaces No. 828, 835 and 840 in the Building, as outlined or marked on the floor plan of the Building attached to this Lease as
Exhibit A, the useable square feet of which premises are measured from the exterior face of the exterior building to the exterior face of the glass storefront frame
and from the center of each demising wall forming the perimeter of the Leased Premises.

Lease Term shall mean a term beginning on the Commencement Date and continuing in full force and effect for one hundred and twenty-four (124) months
thereafter.

Commencement Date shall mean October 1, 2006.
Base Rental shall mean the rental payments as outlined in Exhibit D.

Permitted Use shall mean office use by a company engaged in the manufacture, marketing and sale of alcoholic beverages and/or general office use and for no
other use or purpose. Provided, however, that in no event will the Leased Premises be used for any purpose not permitted under the Prime Lease referred to in
Article 8.1 hereof.

Rentable Area is hereby stipulated for all purposes to be 30,938 rentable square feet (“Leased Premises Area”) with respect to the Leased Premises and 539,448
rentable square feet (“Building Area”) with respect to the Building (which includes the Leased Premises), as the same may be appropriately adjusted by
Landlord in the event that any part of the Building is demolished or expanded.

[ * ] Indicates that information has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to a request for
confidential treatment.




Tenant’s Proportionate Share shall mean a fraction, the numerator of which is the Leased Premises Area and the denominator of which is the Building Area of
the Building. The parties hereto stipulate and agree that Tenant’s Proportionate Share is 5.735%. The parties hereto further stipulate and agree that Tenant’s
Proportionate Share of Operating Costs shall be deemed a separately enumerated amount for purposes of the Prime Lease, particularly, but without limitation,
for purposes of Exhibit D of the Prime Lease.

Security Deposit shall mean $[ * ] cash.
Broker shall mean GVA Thompson Doyle Hennessey and Stevens and NAI Hunneman.
Guarantor shall mean [ * ].

Initial Limits for Tenant’s Comprehensive General Liability Insurance: $[ * ] single combined limit.

ARTICLE I

Section 2.1. Leased Premises and Term. Landlord does hereby lease, demise and let to Tenant and Tenant does hereby lease and take from Landlord the
Leased Premises for a term beginning on the Commencement Date and continuing in full force and effect for the Lease Term, unless this Lease is terminated
earlier pursuant to the provisions hereof. The Leased Premises are demised hereby, “AS IS”, except only as noted in paragraph E of Exhibit E of this Lease,
and subject to all easements, restrictions, agreements of record, mortgages and deeds of trust, zoning and building laws, and the terms and provisions of the
Prime Lease (as hereinafter defined), including, but not limited to, the provisions of the Prime Lease relating to employment and non-discrimination, which
provisions are set forth on Exhibit C to this Lease, together with the right to use common walkways, loading bays, elevators and bathrooms in a manner and
to an extent consistent with the general use of such common facilities by other tenants . If and to the extent that such provisions shall be changed or modified as
a result of any change imposed upon Landlord by the landlord under the Prime Lease (“Prime Lessor”), Tenant shall be given notice of such change and
Tenant agrees to comply with any such changed provision. Except as herein expressly set forth to the contrary, Landlord shall have no obligation to perform
any work to the Leased Premises or Building to ready same for Tenant’s use or occupancy and Tenant is deemed to have accepted the Leased Premises in their
condition on the date hereof, except for Landlord’s Work as noted in Paragraph E of Exhibit E. Upon accepting possession of the Leased Premises, Tenant
shall be deemed to have acknowledged that the same comply fully with Landlord’s covenants and obligations hereunder, except for Landlord’s Work as noted
in Paragraph E of Exhibit E. Landlord agrees that no amendment to the Prime Lease shall prohibit the Permitted Use, and in such instance, Tenant shall have
the right to terminate this Lease upon thirty (30) days notice to Landlord effective on or after the date the Permitted Use is actually prohibited.

Landlord specifically excepts and reserves to itself the use of the roof, the exterior portions of the Leased Premises other than the storefront, and such areas
within the Leased Premises required for
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installation, maintenance, replacement and repair of utility lines and other installations required to service other tenants of the Building from time to time
during the Lease Term, it being agreed that such utility lines and other installations upon completion shall not materially interfere with Tenant’s general use
and occupancy of the Leased Premises consistent with this Lease without Tenant’s specific consent. No rights are conferred on Tenant, and Landlord
specifically excepts and reserves to itself, unless otherwise specifically provided, all rights to the land and improvements below the floor level of the Leased
Premises and to the air rights above the Leased Premises and to the land and improvements located on and within the common areas.

Section 2.2. Use. The Leased Premises shall be used and occupied by Tenant solely for the Permitted Use and for no other purpose. Tenant shall not use the
Leased Premises or allow the Leased Premises to be used in any manner which materially obstructs or materially interferes with the rights of other tenants of
the Building or injures or annoys such tenants, and Tenant shall not cause, maintain or permit any nuisance in, on or about the Leased Premises or the
Building or permit or suffer to be committed any defacement, injury or waste to, in, on or about the Leased Premises or the Building.

Section 2.3. Base Rental. Tenant agrees to pay the Base Rental to Landlord for each year during the Lease Term as herein provided. Base Rental for the first
month of the Lease Term shall be due and payable on the Commencement Date of this Lease, and Base Rental for each and every month during the Lease Term
shall be due and payable in advance on the first day of the month. If the Commencement Date is a day other than the first day of a calendar month or in the
event this Lease terminates on such other than the last day of a calendar month, then Base Rental for each month or months shall be prorated and the
installment or installments so prorated shall be paid in advance. In the event that Tenant fails to make any payment of Base Rental or any other amount
payable to Landlord hereunder within five (5) days after the date such payment becomes due and payable, after five (5) days prior notice to Tenant a late
charge in an amount of $45.00 shall also become due and payable to Landlord by Tenant, such late charge being for Landlord’s administrative and other costs
and is in addition to and cumulative with any other rights and remedies which Landlord may have hereunder with regard to the failure of Tenant to make any
payment of Base Rental or any other sum due hereunder.

Section 2.4. Tenant’s Proportionate Share of Operating Costs. Commencing [ * ], in addition to the payment of Base Rental, Tenant shall pay to Landlord
Tenant’s Proportionate Share of Operating Costs (as defined in Article VIII of this lease and subject to the base year considerations noted in Exhibit E of this
Lease) in accordance with the following provisions:

(a) Tenant shall pay to Landlord, either (i) in the form of a lump sum payment due and payable in arrears upon five (5) days of demand by Landlord or
(ii) in monthly installments of 1/12th each on a monthly basis contemporaneously with the payment of Base Rental, as Landlord may from time to time elect,
an amount reasonably estimated by Landlord to be Tenant’s Proportionate Share of all Operating Costs for each calendar year or portion thereof during the
term of this Lease.
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(b) Ifatany time Landlord shall have reasonable grounds to believe that the amount of actual Operating Costs incurred and to be incurred will vary from
such estimates, then Landlord reserves the right to revise such estimates accordingly. Upon any such revision, Landlord shall notify Tenant of the revised
amount, which notice shall include reasonable backup for the revision, and at Landlord’s election, either (i) Landlord may require Tenant to make a lump
sum payment to Landlord in an amount equal to such revision in arrears or (ii) the monthly payments due and payable to Landlord by Tenant under this
Section shall be increased to an amount which will amortize such revised estimate over the remainder of the calendar year in which any such revision is made
by Landlord.

(c) Within ninety (90) days after the end of any calendar year during which such payments were made by Tenant, a lump sum payment (or credit against
the next succeeding installments of Additional Rent, if any, in case of amounts owed by Landlord to Tenant) shall be made from Tenant to Landlord or from
Landlord to Tenant, as the case may be, so that Tenant shall have paid to Landlord only Tenant’s Proportionate Share of Operating Costs for the previous
calendar year and no more or less, which obligation to make such reconciliation payment shall survive the termination of this Lease.

(d) If the Commencement Date is a day other than the first day of a calendar month or if this Lease terminates on other than the last day of a calendar month,
then the amounts due and owing by Tenant to Landlord under this Section shall be prorated accordingly. Upon written request made by Tenant within sixty
(60) days after the end of any calendar year during which such payments were made by Tenant, Landlord shall furnish to Tenant a statement reflecting actual
Operating Costs for the previous calendar year, with appropriate backup, if requested.

Section 2.5. Separately Metered Utilities and Utility Usage. Tenant shall pay upon demand or receipt of an invoice all amounts due and owing with respect to
utilities furnished to the Leased Premises which may, from time to time, be separately measured or reasonably estimated by a licensed engineer selected by
Landlord, and charged to the Tenant by Landlord, or by any public utility as may furnish such utilities to the Leased Premises. If it has not already done so,
Landlord may, at Tenant’s sole cost and expense, cause the installation of all facilities necessary to separately meter electrical usage within the Leased Premises
(the costs and expenses incurred with respect to such installment to be due and payable by Tenant to Landlord as Additional Rent upon demand), and Tenant
shall pay to Landlord or, at the election of Landlord, to the applicable public utility, promptly upon receipt of any invoice, all charges for electrical usage
within the Leased Premises. In the event of separate metering or measurement as aforesaid, any sums previously included in Additional Rent as determined by
Landlord on account of such utilities shall be equitably adjusted. Unless and until the electricity for the Leased Premises is either separately metered and
separately paid for by Tenant or the charge electricity is re-estimated by Landlord, Tenant shall pay to Landlord $[ * ] ] on the first of each month during the
Lease Term as a contribution toward electrical charges. Within ninety (90) days after the end of any calendar year during which such estimated payments to
Landlord were made by Tenant, Landlord shall determine the actual amount allocable to Tenant for the previous calendar year and provide Tenant reasonable
evidence of same,

[ * ] Indicates that information has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to a request for
confidential treatment.




and a lump sum payment (or credit against the next succeeding installments of Additional Rent, if any, in case of amounts owed by Landlord to Tenant) shall
be made from Tenant to Landlord or from Landlord to Tenant, as the case may be, so that Tenant shall have paid to Landlord such actual amount (vs.
estimated amount) allocable to the previous calendar year and no more or less, which obligation to make such reconciliation payment shall survive the
termination of this Lease.

Section 2.6. Additional Rent; Payments. All sums of money due and payable by Tenant to Landlord under the terms of this Lease in addition to the Base
Rental shall constitute additional rent (“Additional Rent”) hereunder for the purposes of the collection thereof. Landlord shall have the same remedies for
default in the payment of Additional Rent as are available to Landlord in the case of a default in the payment of Base Rental. Base Rental and/or Additional
Rent are sometimes referred to as “rent.” All rent shall be paid (i) by an “electronic funds transfer” system arranged by and among Tenant, Tenant’s bank and
Landlord with Tenant submitting to Landlord at the time Tenant executes and delivers this Lease to Landlord a completed electronic fund transfer form as set
forth in Exhibit F, or (ii) at Landlord’s election exercised by written notice to Tenant, by check drawn on good and immediately available funds at Landlord’s
address as provided herein (or at such other address as may be designated by Landlord from time to time). Tenant agrees to pay all rent under this Lease at the
times and in the manner herein provided, without demand, counterclaim or set-off. At Landlord’s option, and without causing a default in Tenant’s payment
of Base Rent paid or payable hereunder thereby, all or any portion of the rent may be considered paid as reimbursement of Operating Costs.

ARTICLE III

Section 3.1. Utilities. Landlord shall use reasonable efforts to furnish or cause public utilities to furnish electricity to the Leased Premises and water for the
Leased Premises as provided in Paragraph P of Exhibit E of this Lease and to the Building to the extent and in such manner as is reasonably deemed by
Landlord to be adequate for Tenant’s use and occupancy of the Leased Premises. Tenant shall be responsible to connect with electrical service at Landlord’s
electrical room and to provide all equipment for such connections including transformers and distribution therefrom to the Leased Premises, subject to
Landlord’s prior approval of all such work and compliance by Tenant with the requirements of Section 4.2.

Section 3.2. Services to be Furnished by Landlord to Tenant. Landlord shall furnish or cause to be furnished to Tenant during the Lease Term:

(a) Central heating and air conditioning to the Leased Premises (to the extent that equipment therefor has been provided by Landlord or Tenant at the
Leased Premises) and enclosed public areas of the Building in season;

(b) Non-exclusive passenger elevator service and non-exclusive freight elevator service;
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(c) Maintenance and repair of the roof, exterior walls and other public areas of the Building and Project, and electric lighting service for all public areas of
the Building and the Project;

(d) Janitorial service for the corridors and other public areas of the Building; and
(e) Public toilets and restrooms and public drinking fountains.

Except as specified above, such services shall be provided during normal business hours reasonably established by Landlord from time to time (“Normal
Business Hours”), at such locations, in such manner and to the extent deemed by Landlord to be adequate for the use and occupancy of the Building, with
due regard for the prudent control of energy.

Section 3.3. Landlord’s Failure to Provide Utilities or Services. Failure by Landlord to any extent to furnish or cause to be furnished the utilities or services
described in Sections 3.1 and 3.2, or any cessation or interruption thereof, resulting from causes beyond Landlord’s reasonable control, including without
limitation mechanical breakdown, overhaul or repair of equipment, strikes, riots, acts of God, shortages of labor or material, or governmental laws,
regulations or restrictions or any other similar causes shall not render the Landlord liable in any respect for damages to either person or property, be construed
as an eviction of Tenant, result in an abatement of rent or relieve Tenant from its obligation to perform or observe any covenant or agreement contained in this
Lease provided, however, that if any such cessation or interruption shall result from the negligence or willful misconduct of Landlord, (i) Landlord shall use
all reasonable efforts to restore such utilities or service and (ii) if such service is not restored within 3 business days after Landlord’s receipt of Tenant’s notice
thereof, Tenant shall be entitled to a reasonable abatement of Base Rental and Additional Rent for the duration of the period of time that the service remains
unavailable based on all the attendant circumstances.

Section 3.4. Peaceful Enjoyment. Subject to the other terms of this Lease, Landlord covenants that Tenant shall and may peacefully have, hold and enjoy the
Leased Premises for the Lease Term free of any claims by any party claiming by, through or under Landlord, provided that Tenant pays the rent to be paid by
Tenant under this Lease and performs all of Tenant’s covenants and agreements herein contained.

ARTICLE IV
Section 4.1. Operation. Tenant shall operate the Leased Premises only for the Permitted Use, consistent with the terms of this Lease.
Section 4.2 Alterations, Improvements and Additions.

(a) Commencing after the date that Landlord completes the installation of the new windows as noted in Paragraph E of Exhibit E, Tenant shall be
obligated to repair any glass in the
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windows that may be broken and take such actions, if any, as are necessary to cause the Leased Premises and any existing alterations and improvements to
comply with the requirements set forth in subsection (f) of this Section 4.2, and furnish, equip and improve the Leased Premises with partitions, lighting
fixtures, HVAC equipment and ducting (to the extent not required hereunder to be provided by Landlord), including any needed for Tenant’s computer room,
wall and floor coverings, paintings, and other interior decoration suitable for a professional office and of a quality and design consistent with the standards
generally observed by Landlord and by the other tenants of the Building, to the extent necessary or appropriate for the proper operation of the Leased Premises
for the Permitted Use, all subject to any construction work of Landlord then being undertaken, which shall not be interfered with. Said standards are
currently contained in the Tenant Design & Construction Guide issued by Landlord (receipt of which Tenant acknowledges), as from time to time modified or
replaced (the “Tenant Design & Construction Guide”). Prior to the commencement of any such work, Tenant shall submit to Landlord for its written approval
detailed plans and specifications and the names of all major contractors providing for the initial furnishing, equipping and improving or for altering of the
Leased Premises. Landlord’s approval shall not unreasonably be withheld as to non-structural items which are not visible from the exterior of the Leased
Premises or any corridor. Any further alterations, improvements or additions to the Leased Premises (including constructing partitions, installing light fixtures
or painting or use of any mastic, solvents or other materials that may give off offensive or noxious fumes) shall be done only after reasonable advance written
notice to Landlord describing the same in detail and if Landlord shall so demand in writing, only after submission of plans and specifications as aforesaid
and after obtaining prior written approval, which approval by Landlord shall not unreasonably be withheld, conditioned or delayed as to non-structural items
which are not visible from the exterior of the Leased Premises or corridor.

(b) Any and all furnishing, equipping or improving of or other alteration, improvement or addition to the Leased Premises shall be:
(i) made and kept at the Leased Premises at Tenant’s sole cost, risk, and expense;

(ii) performed in a prompt, good and workmanlike manner with labor and materials of such quality as Landlord may reasonably require in full
compliance with Landlord’s requirements and with the Tenant Design & Construction Guide, as then in effect, and with all applicable governmental laws,
statutes, codes, rules and regulations and rules and regulations of Landlord’s insurers, and, after Tenant has obtained, at Tenant’s sole cost and expense, all
required governmental permits, consents and approvals;

(iii) constructed in accordance with plans and specifications approved in writing by Landlord prior to the commencement of any such work (which
approval shall not unreasonably be withheld in the case of non-structural work which is not visible from the exterior of the Leased Premises or any corridor);
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(iv) Prosecuted diligently and continuously to completion so as to minimize interference with the normal business operations of other tenants in the
Building, the performance of Landlord’s obligations under this Lease or any mortgage or underlying lease covering or affecting all or any part of the Building
or the land upon which the Building is situated and any work being done by contractors engaged by Landlord with respect to or in connection with the
Building; and

(v) performed by contractors approved in writing by Landlord (which approval shall not unreasonably be withheld) and if requested by Landlord
all such contractors and work shall be bonded in a manner reasonably satisfactory to Landlord.

(c) Any and all alterations, improvements and additions to the Leased Premises shall constitute a part of the Leased Premises. All alterations,
improvements and additions constructed by Landlord, shall be, and remain, the property of Landlord. All alterations, improvements and additions
constructed by Tenant shall remain the property of Landlord at the end of the term of this Lease. Tenant shall be entitled to the exclusive right to depreciate and
amortize any alterations or improvements that it constructs at its sole cost and take investment tax credits with respect thereto. Tenant shall have no (and
hereby waives all) other rights to payment or compensation for such alteration, improvement or addition to the Leased Premises.

(d) any alterations, improvements or additions (including, without limitation, signage) which are visible from the exterior of the Building or any corridor
are subject to removal or change, at Landlord’s reasonable discretion, at any time notwithstanding approval by Landlord of plans and specifications therefor.

(e) no sign may be installed or maintained by Tenant at the Leased Premises except with the prior written consent of Landlord and in accordance with
rules and regulations therefore adopted from time to time by Landlord. In addition to usual tenant signage in the first floor lobby and on the entrance to the
tenant’s space, and subject to Landlord’s approval which shall not be unreasonably delayed, withheld or conditioned, Tenant shall be permitted to install and
maintain signage of not less than four square feet at the front elevator lobby of the eighth floor.

(f) all alterations, additions and/or improvements shall be made in such a manner as (1) will not at any point in the Leased Premises separate all or any
portion of the pipes from the remainder of the space, whether by creation of a full or partial wall or otherwise, (2) will not restrict airflow or heat to any pipes
along or near exterior walls or thermostats associated with any heating systems for all or any portion of the Building or Leased Premises, and (3) shall provide
access panels in sufficient number and location to allow for reasonable, direct access to windows, control valves, switches, thermostats and the like for the
purposes of testing, repair and replacement.

(g) no approval which may be given by Landlord to Tenant pursuant to this Lease, if any, shall (i) constitute an approval (or even be deemed to have
confirmed Landlord’s review) with respect to compliance with any codes, building laws or other governmental requirements or (ii)
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relieve Tenant of any of its obligations in the immediately preceding clause (f) or as set forth elsewhere in this Lease.

Section 4.3. Maintenance and Repairs. Subject to reasonable wear and use, having in mind good maintenance practices, damage by fire or other insured
casualty not due to the negligence, act, omission or default of Tenant and for which proceeds sufficient for restoration are paid to Landlord only excepted,
Tenant shall maintain the Leased Premises, all plate glass and all Trade Fixtures (as defined in Section 8.1 hereof) and other improvements situated therein in
first class, clean and safe condition. Further, Tenant shall (i) maintain and repair all windows and window panes (whether single glazed, double glazed or
otherwise) for the leased Premises from and after the date that Landlord completes Landlord’s Work as noted in Paragraph E of Exhibit E and maintain and
repair all heating, ventilating and air conditioning equipment and sprinkler heads and pipes exclusively serving , the Leased Premises in first class order and
condition and shall maintain the usual service contract with respect thereto, furnishing evidence thereof (including renewals) to Landlord upon request, and
(ii) repair or replace any damage to the Building, or any part thereof, caused by Tenant or Tenant’s agents, contractors, licensees, employees, customers or
invitees. All such repair or replacement shall be performed in accordance with the conditions set forth in Sections 4.2(b) (i), (ii), (iii), (iv) and (v). In the event
of a conflict between this Section 4.3 and Section 5.2 with respect to repair obligations, this Section 4.3 shall prevail.

Section 4.4. Trade Fixtures. Landlord and Tenant agree that all Trade Fixtures in the Leased Premises as defined in Section 8.1 shall be and remain the
property of Tenant and, so long as Tenant is not in default hereunder, may be removed by Tenant prior to or upon the expiration of the Lease Term and shall
be removed at the request of the Landlord. Tenant shall at its sole cost and expense repair any damage caused by such removal and restore the Leased Premises
to such condition as existed prior to the installation of such Trade Fixtures, ordinary wear and tear excepted. Any such repair and restoration shall be
performed in accordance with the conditions set forth in Sections 4.2(b) (i), (ii), (iv) and (v). Any Trade Fixtures which are not removed from the Leased
Premises shall at Landlord’s election become the property of Landlord or Landlord may remove and dispose of the same, at Tenant’s cost, without necessity of
further notice to Tenant. Tenant shall have no (and hereby waives all) rights to payment or compensation for any such item. Tenant shall have no right to
remove property other than Trade Fixtures from the Leased Premises without Landlord’s prior written approval, which Landlord may withhold in Landlord’s
sole discretion. In no event shall lighting fixtures or light bulbs, whether recessed, cans, track lights or otherwise, be considered Trade Fixtures and Tenant
shall not have the right to remove any such lighting from the Leased Premises.

Section 4.5. Laws and Regulations; Building Rules. Tenant shall comply with all laws, ordinances, rules and regulations of any governmental authority
relating to the Leased Premises, including the furnishing, equipping and improving thereof. Tenant shall, and shall cause its employees, agents, customers
and invitees to, comply with the Building Rules. Landlord shall not enforce the Building Rules against Tenant in a discriminatory manner.
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Section 4.6. Landlord’s Access. Landlord and its representatives and contractors shall have the right to enter upon the Leased Premises for any reasonable
purpose (including, without limitation, the performance of repairs, alterations, modifications, improvements or additions thereto). Landlord shall enter only
during Normal Business Hours and upon advance oral or written notice, except in cases of emergency. Landlord agrees that to the extent possible it will not
unreasonably interfere with the conduct of Tenant’s business in the exercise of its rights hereunder.

Section 4.7. Assignment and Subletting by Tenant. [ * ]

Section 4.8. Light, Air and View. Neither the diminution nor the shutting off of any light, air or view nor any other effect on the Leased Premises by any
structure or condition now or hereafter existing on property adjacent to the Building shall affect this Lease, abate rent or otherwise impose any liability on
Landlord. Except only as Landlord may reasonably deem necessary on a temporary basis in connection with repairs and improvements, Landlord agrees not
to obstruct the windows servicing the Leased Premises.

Section 4.9. Taxes. Tenant shall pay all ad valorem and similar taxes or assessments levied upon or applicable to any of Tenant’s Trade Fixtures or any other
equipment, fixtures, furniture and other property situated in the Leased Premises and all license and other fees or charges imposed on the business conducted
by Tenant on the Leased Premises. Upon request by Landlord, Tenant will furnish Landlord annually with official tax receipts and other official receipts
showing payment of such taxes, assessments, fees and charges. If Landlord shall be required to pay a higher ad valorem tax as a result of Tenant’s leasehold
improvements, then Tenant shall pay to Landlord, upon demand, the amount of such increase in ad valorem taxes.

Section 4.10. Liens. Tenant shall not place or permit to be placed any lien, affidavit, charge or other encumbrance or order upon the Building or the Leased
Premises or any part thereof or any interest therein. In the event that any such lien, affidavit, charge, encumbrance or order upon the Building or the Leased
Premises or any part thereof or any interest therein attaches, regardless of the validity or enforceability thereof, Tenant shall cause the same to be discharged of
record by payment, bonding or otherwise within 5 business days of notice of such attachment.

Section 4.11. Subordination to Mortgages and Leases. This Lease shall be subject and subordinated at all times to (a) all underlying leases now existing or
which may hereinafter be executed affecting the Building, including but not limited to the Prime Lease, (b) the lien or liens of all mortgages and deeds of trust
in any amount or amounts whatsoever now or hereafter placed on the Building or Landlord’s interest or estate therein or on or against such underlying leases
and (c) all renewals, modifications, consolidations, replacements and extensions thereof. The subordinations set forth herein shall be self-operative and
effective without the necessity of execution of any further instruments by any party; provided, however, Tenant shall execute and deliver upon demand any
instruments, releases or other documents requested by any lessor or mortgagee for the purpose of confirming the provisions hereof or further subjecting and
subordinating this Lease to such underlying leases, mortgages or deeds of trust. In the event of the
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enforcement by the holder of or trustee or the beneficiary under any such mortgage or deed of trust of the remedies provided for by law or by such mortgage or
deed of trust, upon request of any person or party succeeding to the interest of Landlord as a result of such enforcement, Tenant will automatically attorn to
and become the tenant of such successor in interest without change in the terms or provisions of this Lease; provided, however, that such successor in interest
shall not be bound by (i) any payment of rent or Additional Rent for more than one month in advance except prepayments actually delivered to such successor
in the nature of security for the performance by Tenant of its obligations under this Lease, (ii) any payment of the security deposit or any other deposit unless
such security deposit or other deposit has actually been delivered to such successor or (iii) any amendment or modification of this Lease made without the
written consent of such holder or such trustee or such beneficiary or such successor in interest, and Tenant shall execute and deliver an instrument or
instruments confirming the attornment and other agreements provided for herein provided that such successor shall recognize this Lease as remaining in full
force and effect and Tenant’s rights to possession remain undisturbed so long as Tenant is not in default hereunder. Provided the Tenant signs and delivers the
Prime Landlord’s form SNDA, a copy of which is attached as Exhibit G, Landlord agrees to use good faith efforts to obtain the Prime Landlord’s signature
thereon within the thirty (30) days next after the date this Lease is fully signed and delivered. Further, notwithstanding anything contained in this Lease to the
contrary, in the event of any default by Landlord in the performance of its covenants or obligations hereunder which would give Tenant the right to terminate
this Lease, Tenant shall not exercise such right unless and until (i) Tenant gives written notice of such default (which notice shall specify the exact nature of
said default and the steps necessary to cure same) to the holder of any mortgage or deed of trust encumbering the Building who has theretofore notified Tenant
in writing of its interest and the address to which notices are to be sent, and (ii) such holder fails to commence to cure, or cause to be commenced to be cured,
such default within thirty (30) days from the giving of such notice by Tenant.

Section 4.12. Certificates. At any time and from time to time during the Lease Term, upon five (5) days after written request by Landlord, Tenant will execute,
acknowledge and deliver to Landlord and any other persons specified by Landlord a certificate certifying (i) that this Lease is in full force and effect, (ii) the
date and nature of each modification to this Lease, (iii), the date to which rental and other sums payable under this Lease have been paid, (iv) that Tenant is
not aware of any default under this Lease which has not been cured, except such defaults as may be specified in said certificate, and (v) such other matters as
may be reasonably requested by Landlord. Any such certificate may be relied upon by Landlord and by any other person to whom it is delivered for such
purpose. Upon the written request of Tenant, Landlord shall furnish to Tenant or any other person specified by Tenant, a similar certificate with respect to the
status of this Lease.

Section 4.13. Limitation on Weight. Tenant shall not permit upon the floor of the Leased Premises any weight exceeding seventy-five (75) pounds per square
foot of floor area covered.

Section 4.14. Access to Books and Records. Upon reasonable prior notice as may be reasonable necessary for Landlord to comply with its obligations under
the Prime Lease, Tenant will permit the
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Landlord and its duly authorized agents to examine, and shall make available for audit, copy and inspection, during Normal Business Hours, by Landlord
and its duly authorized agents, Tenant’s books, contracts and records relating to its employment practices with respect to compliance with Exhibit C attached
hereto. Further, and except as Landlord believes is reasonably necessary so as not to default in its obligations under the Prime Lease, Landlord shall not
default Tenant hereunder due to Tenant’s failure to comply with the terms of Exhibit C. Tenant agrees that if, as a result of any audit, copy or inspection of
such books, contracts, records or other papers, Landlord becomes aware of any default by Tenant hereunder, Tenant shall pay all costs and expenses
incurred by Landlord in connection with such audit, copy or inspection. Landlord shall not disclose such information to third parties except as may be
required by the Prime Lease with respect to employment practices, or by law or legal process or order of any governmental authority or agency, or except to
Landlord’s lenders and prospective purchasers.

Section 4.15. Financial Statements. Upon request by Landlord, Tenant will furnish to Landlord a copy of Tenant’s and each guarantor’s most recent year-end
financial statement, including a profit and loss statement from operations, balance sheet, income statement and sales reports which request shall be made no
more often than once in any calendar year unless Tenant is in default.

ARTICLE V

Section 5.1. Condemnation. If the Leased Premises shall be taken or condemned (or conveyed in lieu of any such taking or condemnation) for any public
purpose or if all reasonable access thereto shall be so taken so as to render the Leased Premises untenantable, this Lease, at the option of either Landlord or
Tenant, shall terminate effective as of the date upon which possession of the Leased Premises is taken by such authority, and all rent accrued to the time of
such termination shall be paid by Tenant to Landlord. In addition, in the event of any taking or condemnation (or conveyance in lieu thereof) of fifty percent
(50%) or more of the square footage of the Building, or a material portion of the areas of the Project serving as parking, Landlord may elect to terminate this
Lease effective as of the date upon which possession to such portion of the Building is taken, and all rent accrued to the time of such termination shall be paid
by Tenant to Landlord. All proceeds of any taking, condemnation or conveyance in lieu thereof of the Leased Premises, the Building or any part thereof shall
belong to and be paid to Landlord; provided, however, Tenant shall be entitled to claim, prove and receive in a condemnation proceeding such awards as may
be allowed for damages as a result of the lease termination or damages to or the taking of fixtures, equipment and other personal property installed by it which
it is herein permitted to remove from the Leased Premises at the end of the Lease Term, but only such awards as shall be separately awarded in addition to (and
not out of or in diminishment of) the award made to Landlord.

Section 5.2. Casualty Damage. If the Leased Premises shall be destroyed or damaged by fire or any other casualty, Tenant shall immediately give notice thereof
to Landlord. If the Leased Premises shall be damaged by fire or other insured casualty, which other insured casualty shall not be due to the neglect, act,
omission or default of Tenant or any person claiming by, through or under Tenant, its agents, employees, customers, invitees or visitors so as to render the
Leased Premises

[ * ] Indicates that information has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to a request for
confidential treatment.

S12-




untenantable in whole or in part and to such an extent that Landlord determines that such damage can be repaired with the application of reasonable diligence
within two hundred forty (240) days, Tenant shall be entitled to a fair diminution of the rent hereunder until such time as the Leased Premises are made
tenantable as determined by Landlord. Landlord shall notify Tenant within 60 days after receipt of Tenant’s notice of destruction or damage whether Landlord
intends to proceed with repairs. If the Leased Premises or any other portion of the Building, through no fault or neglect of Tenant, its agents, employees,
customers, invitees or visitors, shall be destroyed or damaged by fire or any other casualty to such an extent that Landlord determines that such damage
cannot be repaired with the application of reasonable diligence within two hundred forty (240) days, and if the Leased Premises are rendered untenantable in
whole or in part by reason of such casualty, then, Landlord shall so notify Tenant and (a) at the option of Landlord, (i) Tenant shall be entitled to a fair
diminution of the rent hereunder until such time as the Leased Premises are made tenantable as determined by Landlord, or (ii) Landlord may terminate this
Lease whereupon all rent accrued up to the time of such termination shall be paid by Tenant to Landlord or (b) at the option of the Tenant exercised by a 30 day
advance written notice to Landlord given while Tenant is not in default and received within 60 days after Landlord’s notice to Tenant, Tenant may terminate
this Lease by notice to Landlord accompanied by payment of sums due and to become due under the Lease through the termination date. In addition to the
foregoing, if for any cause the Leased Premises or Building shall be so damaged that Landlord shall in its sole judgment decide not to rebuild, then by notice
in writing to Tenant, this Lease shall forthwith terminate and all rent owed up to the time of such termination as set forth in such notice shall be paid by
Tenant to Landlord. In no event shall Landlord have any obligation to repair or restore any of Tenant’s goods, Trade Fixtures, furniture or other property
placed in or incorporated in the Leased Premises which is destroyed or damaged by fire or any other casualty.

Section 5.3. Insurance.

(a) Landlord shall not be obligated to insure any of Tenant’s goods, Trade Fixtures, furniture or any other property placed in or incorporated in the
Leased Premises.

(b) Tenant shall, at its sole cost and expense, procure, and maintain and comply with during the Lease Term comprehensive general liability insurance
on an “occurrence basis”, comprehensive automobile liability insurance, property insurance with respect to Tenant’s personal property, inventory and
leasehold improvements written on an “All Risk” basis for full replacement cost, worker’s compensation and employer’s liability insurance an umbrella
liability insurance and such other insurance as Landlord may, from time to time, reasonably require. All such insurance shall be maintained by companies
and on forms reasonably satisfactory to Landlord, and initially in the amounts specified in Article 1 (where applicable) and to the extent required by Landlord,
all policies of comprehensive general liability insurance, umbrella liability and “All Risk” property insurance and such other insurance as Landlord shall
reasonably specify, if any, shall name Landlord, Landlord’s managing agent, any mortgagee and the Prime Lessor as additional insureds or loss payees.
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(c) All policies of insurance required to be maintained by Tenant shall provide that the Landlord shall be given at least thirty (30) days’ prior written
notice of any cancellation or non-renewal of any such policy. A duly executed certificate of insurance with respect to each such policy will be deposited with
Landlord by Tenant on or before the Commencement Date, and a duly executed certificate of insurance with respect to each subsequent policy shall be
deposited with the Landlord at least fifteen (15) days prior to the expiration of the policy.

(d) Tenant shall not do or permit anything to be done in or about the Leased Premises nor bring nor keep nor permit anything to be brought to or kept
therein, which will in any way increase the existing rate of or affect any fire or other insurance which Landlord carries upon any part of the Building or any of
its contents, or cause the cancellation or invalidation of any such insurance. If the annual premium to be paid by Landlord with respect to any insurance
obtained by Landlord covering any part of the Building or any of its contents shall exceed the standard rates because Tenant’s operations, contents of the
Leased Premises or improvements with respect to the Leased Premises result in extra hazardous exposure, Tenant shall pay the excess amount of the premium
upon demand by Landlord.

(e) All insurance carried by either Landlord or Tenant covering losses arising out of destruction or damage to the Leased Premises or its contents or to
other portions of the Building, or to Tenant’s occupancy and operation of the Leased Premises shall provide for a waiver of rights of subrogation against Prime
Lessor, Landlord and Tenant on the part of the insurance carrier, to the extent that the same is permitted under the laws and regulations governing the writing
of insurance within the Commonwealth of Massachusetts. Anything in this Lease to the contrary notwithstanding and so long as the following does not
invalidate any policy of insurance, Landlord and Tenant each hereby waive to the extent of insurance carried by either party any and all rights of recovery,
claims, actions, or causes of action against the other, its agent, officers or employees, or any loss or damage that may occur to the Leased Premises or the
Building, or any improvements thereto, which is insured against or should have been insured against under the terms of any insurance policy required to be
maintained pursuant to this Section. The waivers set forth in the immediately preceding sentence shall be in addition to, and not in substitution for, any other
waivers, indemnities or exclusions of liability set forth in this Lease, including without limitation Sections 5.5 and 5.6 of this Lease.

Section 5.4. Surrender of Leased Premises. Upon termination of this Lease or Tenant’s right to possession of the Leased Premises, Tenant shall peaceably and
quietly surrender the Leased Premises to Landlord, broom-clean and in a good state of repair and condition, excepting only ordinary wear and tear (subject to
good maintenance practices), or damage due to fire or other insured casualty (which other insured casualty shall not be due to the neglect, act, omission or
default of Tenant or any person claiming by, through or under Tenant). Except to the extent that the Landlord agrees in writing that particular items will not
need to be demolished, removed or restored, upon request of Landlord, Tenant shall demolish or remove all or any portion of any Trade Fixtures and other
property and any alterations, improvements, additions or changes made by Tenant and Tenant shall restore the Leased Premises to such condition as existed
prior to the
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installation of such Trade Fixtures or other property or the making of any such alteration, improvement, addition or change, all such demolition, removal and
restoration to be performed in accordance with the conditions set forth in Section 4.2 (b). Landlord agrees that Tenant shall not be requested to demolish usual
office improvements for clerical offices, but reserves the right to require removal (and restoration to a clean shell condition, including without limitation, with
walls patched and paint ready, and with electrical and other utility lines appropriately boxed and terminated) with respect to other improvements (e.g., and
without limitation, such kitchens, baths, raised floors, and computer related improvements hereafter installed and, if hereafter relocated or significantly
modified, the existing fire suppression system). Upon termination of this Lease, Tenant will also surrender to Landlord all keys to the Leased Premises and
inform Landlord of all combinations on locks, safes and vaults, if any, at the Leased Premises.

Section 5.5. Damages from Certain Causes. To the fullest extent permitted by law, Prime Lessor and Prime Lessor’s agents and employees and Landlord and
Landlord’s agents and employees shall not be liable or responsible to Tenant or any person claiming through Tenant for any loss or damage or injury to any
property or person in, upon or about the Leased Premises or any other portion of the Building arising at any time from any cause other than solely by reason of
the gross negligence or willful misconduct of Landlord or of Landlord’s employees or agents acting within the scope of their employment or authority.

Section 5.6. Hold Harmless. Neither Prime Lessor nor Landlord shall be liable to Tenant, or to Tenant’s agents, employees, contractors, customers or invitees
or to any other person whomsoever for any injury or damage to person or property caused by or arising out of any act, omission or neglect (including without
limitation leaving windows open) of Tenant, its agents, contractors, subtenants, employees, customers, licensees, concessionaires or invitees or any other
person entering the Building under express or implied invitation of Tenant, and Tenant agrees to indemnify and hold Landlord and Prime Lessor harmless
from all liability and claims for any such damage and from all claims, costs, damages or liabilities arising out of any of the foregoing, including without
limitation reasonable attorneys’ fees and all other reasonable out-of-pocket expenses incurred in connection therewith. In any case in which Tenant has agreed to
indemnify Prime Lessor or Landlord or any other person, such indemnity shall be deemed to include an obligation on the part of Tenant to appear on behalf of
the indemnified party in any and all proceedings involving a claim or cause of action covered by such indemnity and to defend the indemnified party against
such claim or cause of action, all at Tenant’s cost; provided, however, at the option of any party indemnified hereunder, such party shall have the right to
appear on its own behalf, employ its own legal counsel and defend any claim or cause of action indemnified in this Section, all at Tenant’s cost. Tenant shall
not be required to indemnify Landlord to the extent of losses found to have been caused by Landlord’s own negligence.

ARTICLE VI
Section 6.1. Default by Tenant. The occurrence of any one or more of the following shall constitute a default by Tenant under this Lease:
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(a) Failure of the Tenant to timely pay rent or any other amounts payable under this Lease as and when first due and payable and because Tenant is
paying by electronic funds transfer (unless only Landlord elects otherwise), Tenant shall hereunder be in default if (i) Landlord’s authority concerning
electronic payments is revoked or terminated, or (ii) if Tenant does not have adequate funds in the account for which Tenant has granted Landlord authority
for Landlord or Landlord’s bank to timely effect the necessary transfer on the date when the rent is first due and payable hereunder, or (iii) if Tenant or
Tenant’s bank fails or refuses to authorize or otherwise take the actions necessary to timely effect the necessary transfer on the date when the rent is first due
and payable hereunder, provided however that, except as hereafter noted, the foregoing shall not be a default unless Landlord fails to receive the payment
within 5 days after notice to Tenant that the payment is due, and provided further that Landlord shall not be required to give more than two notices of non-
payment in any 12 month period and thereafter, the Tenant’s failure to timely pay shall be a default without notice or opportunity to cure;

(b) Intentionally Deleted
(c) Intentionally Deleted;

(d) Excepting matters specifically addressed by another subsection of this Section 6.1 and in Section 4.14, failure of Tenant to perform, observe, or
comply with or default under any of the terms, covenants, conditions, agreements or provisions contained in this Lease including, without limitation, the
Rules and Regulations attached hereto as Exhibit B, as the same may be reasonably modified from time to time if such failure or default is not cured to
Landlord’s satisfaction within thirty (30) calendar days after the Landlord has given Tenant written notice thereof or such longer period as may reasonably be
required, provided that Tenant shall commence to cure such default within the first 15 days of said thirty (30) day period and thereafter diligently prosecute
the same to conclusion;

(e) The interest of Tenant under this Lease shall be levied on under execution or other legal process;

(f) Any petition in bankruptcy or other insolvency proceedings shall be filed by or against Tenant or any guarantor of this Lease, or any petition shall be
filed or other action taken to declare Tenant or any such guarantor a bankrupt or to delay, reduce or modify Tenant’s or any such guarantor’s debts or
obligations or to reorganize or modify Tenant’s or any such guarantor’s capital structure of indebtedness or to appoint a trustee, receiver or liquidator of Tenant
or such guarantor or of any property of Tenant or such guarantor, or any proceeding or other action shall be commenced or taken by any governmental
authority for the dissolution or liquidation of Tenant or any such guarantor;

(g) (1) Tenant or any guarantor of this Lease shall become insolvent or otherwise fail to pay its monetary obligations in due course as they mature, or
(ii) Tenant or any such
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guarantor shall make an assignment for the benefit of creditors, or (iii) a receiver or trustee shall be appointed for Tenant or any such guarantor or any of his
or their properties and not discharged within five (5) days;

(h) Intentionally Deleted;

(i) Tenant shall do or permit to be done anything whereby a lien, security interest or other encumbrance (whether consensual or created by operation of
law or otherwise) is created or filed against all or any part of the Leased Premises, the Building or any property situated therein or Tenant’s interest in this
Lease which is not discharged within five (5) days;

(j) Any default or event of default under any guaranty of this Lease and such default or event of default is not cured within the applicable cure period (if
any) set forth in any such guaranty;

(k) The death or legal incapacity of Tenant or any guarantor of this Lease if Tenant or any such guarantor is an individual person or the termination,
dissolution, or liquidation of Tenant or any such guarantor if Tenant or any such guarantor is corporation, partnership or other entity; or

() Any assignment of this Lease by Tenant in contravention of Section 4.7 of this Lease.

Section 6.2. Landlord’s Remedies. Upon the occurrence of any default by Tenant under this Lease, Landlord may, at its sole option, do any one or more of the
following:

(a) Landlord may terminate this Lease and/or Tenant’s right to possession of the Leased Premises, whereupon Tenant’s right of possession shall
thereupon cease and terminate and Landlord shall be entitled to the possession of the Leased Premises, any process of law, any notice to quit, or of intention to
re-enter being hereby exercised by entry, or in lieu thereof, by written notice to Tenant terminating this Lease and Tenant’s right to possession. Tenant hereby
expressly waives any and all rights of redemption granted by or under any present or future laws in the event of Tenant being evicted or dispossessed for any
cause or in the event Landlord terminates this Lease or Tenant’s right of possession as provided in this Section 6.2. In the event of such re-entry by process of
law or otherwise, Tenant nevertheless shall remain liable for any and all damage, deficiency or loss and Landlord shall have the power and right, which is
hereby acceded to by Tenant, to re-let the Leased Premises, and whether or not there has been such re-letting, Landlord shall have the right each month to sue
for and recover all sums previously due and not previously paid as well as all sums thereafter due and payable including, without limitation, any loss of rents
(or monthly deficit) with the right reserved to Landlord to bring any action(s) or proceeding(s) for the recovery of any deficit(s) remaining unpaid without being
obligated to await the expiration of the Lease Term for a final determination of Tenant’s account. Additionally, Landlord may elect at any time, upon notice to
Tenant, to accelerate the payment of Base Rental, Additional Rent and all other sums due or to become due under the Lease, as reasonably estimated by
Landlord, in which case Tenant shall forthwith pay such sums to Landlord after receiving a credit for (i) such sums as
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may previously have been paid under this Section 6.2 net of such expenses as may be deducted under clause (b) of this Section 6.2; and (ii) the reasonable
value of Tenant’s leasehold estate for the balance of the term fixed herein. The commencement or maintenance of any one or more actions shall not bar
Landlord from bringing other or subsequent actions for future accruals pursuant to provisions of this Section 6.2. It is further understood that no waiver of
any breach of any covenant, condition or agreements herein contained shall operate as a waiver of the covenant, condition or agreement itself or of any
subsequent breach thereof. No provision of this Lease shall be deemed to have been waived by Landlord unless such waiver shall be in writing signed by the
Landlord. No payment by Tenant or receipt by Landlord of a lesser amount than the monthly installment of rent herein stipulated or otherwise payable under
this Lease shall be deemed to be other than on account of the earliest stipulated rent nor shall any endorsement or statement on any check or any letter
accompanying any check or payment as rent be deemed an accord and satisfaction. The Landlord may accept such check or payment without prejudice to the
Landlord’s right to pursue or continue to pursue any of the Landlord’s rights or remedies provided for in this Lease. The proceeds of any such re-letting shall
first be applied to the expenses thereof, including all costs in refitting and redecorating the Leased Premises, leasing commissions and other costs and expenses
incurred therein. The remaining proceeds resulting therefrom, if any, shall then be applied to Tenant’s liability under this Lease. Nothing herein shall obligate
the Landlord to re-let or attempt to make an effort to re-let the Leased Premises following the Tenant’s default. Landlord’s re-letting of the Leased Premises
following a default by Tenant under this Lease may be on such terms, provisions and conditions as Landlord shall deem reasonably appropriate and may be
for such term (or terms) as the Landlord may select whether longer or shorter than the remaining Lease Term. Tenant shall, following default under this Lease,
reimburse Landlord for interest upon all sums due to the Landlord (from the date such sums shall have been due to the date of payment thereof) at the
maximum lawful rate then allowed by law.

(b) Without waiving any other remedy, including the right to terminate this Lease upon Tenant’s failure to perform, observe or comply with the covenants
set forth in Section 4.1 or 4.7 of this Lease, Landlord may, without terminating this Lease and without taking possession of the Leased Premises, collect from
Tenant, in addition to any rent payable by Tenant to Landlord under this Lease, as liquidated damages, a sum equal to the greater of $500 or twice the per
diem Base Rental for each day or any portion thereof that such default by Tenant continues, Landlord and Tenant agreeing that actual damages which might
be sustained by Landlord by reason of such failure are uncertain and difficult of ascertainment and that said sum would be reasonable and just compensation
for such failure.

(c) Notwithstanding anything hereinabove contained in this Article VI, no default by Tenant which would be violative of the Prime Lease or the Economic
Development Plan pursuant to which the Boston Marine Industrial Park is operated and has been developed will be permitted, particular reference is made to
Section 2.2 hereof and the Permitted Use.

Section 6.3. Landlord’s Right to Perform Certain Obligations. Should Tenant fail to perform any of its obligations hereunder, which failure continues after
expiration of any applicable grace period
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and notice, or should Landlord reasonably determine that immediate action is needed to prevent damage to either the Leased Premises or the Building, Landlord
may (but shall not be obligated to), upon prior written notice to Tenant, enter upon the Leased Premises and perform all or any part of such obligations and/or
take such action as it deems necessary to prevent or limit such damage, as applicable. Upon demand, Tenant shall reimburse Landlord for the reasonable cost
to Landlord of performing such obligations plus profit and overhead in an amount equal to fifteen percent (15%) of such cost and/or, if Landlord reasonably
took such action to prevent or limit damage to the Leased Premises or Building or the need for action arose from a cause within the Premises, for the costs
associated with such action. No action taken by Landlord under this Section shall relieve Tenant from any of its obligations under this Lease or from any
consequences or liabilities arising from the failure to perform such obligations. The expiration of applicable grace periods as aforesaid shall not be required if
payment or other action is in the opinion of Landlord, necessary to protect Landlord’s property and interest.

Section 6.4. Cumulative Remedies. The rights and remedies of Landlord under this Article shall be non-exclusive and shall be in addition to and cumulative of
all other remedies available to Landlord under this Lease or at law or in equity.

Section 6.5. Landlord’s Lien. Intentionally Deleted.

Section 6.6. Security Deposit. Tenant shall pay the Security Deposit to Landlord on the date this Lease is executed by Tenant. Landlord may commingle the
Security Deposit with its other funds and shall receive and hold the Security Deposit without liability for interest, it being expressly understood that Landlord
shall have no obligation to deposit the Security Deposit in an interest-bearing account. Upon default by Tenant, Landlord may, from time to time, without
prejudice to any other remedy, apply such Security Deposit to the extent necessary to make good any arrears of rental or any other damage, injury, expense or
liability caused to Landlord by reason of default by the Tenant. After any such application of the Security Deposit, Tenant shall, upon request of Landlord,
pay to Landlord the amount so applied so as to restore the Security Deposit to its original amount. Any remaining balance of the Security Deposit shall be
returned by Landlord to Tenant within a reasonable period of time after the termination of this Lease; provided that should the lease have been terminated not
as a result of the default of Tenant or rejection of the Lease in bankruptcy, Landlord shall use good faith effort to determine the amount owed by Tenant, if
any, within the 90 days next after the termination of the lease. The Security Deposit shall not be considered an advance payment of rental or measure of
Landlord’s damages in case of a default by Tenant. In the event the Security Deposit is in the form of a Letter of Credit, upon default by Tenant, Landlord
may draw, at its sole election, upon the Letter of Credit in whole or in part, and, if such draw is in the whole amount of the Letter of Credit and Landlord
elects, in its sole discretion to use the Letter of Credit proceeds to cure such default rather than terminate this Lease, without waiving any rights of Landlord
hereunder, then the balance, if any of the proceeds of the Letter of Credit after such default is cured, if this Lease is not terminated by Landlord, shall be
thereafter held by Landlord as a cash Security Deposit subject to the Security Deposit restoration provisions of this Section, and thereafter all Security Deposit
requirements under this Lease shall be deemed to require cash.
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ARTICLE VII

Section 7.1. Attorneys’ Fees and Other Expenses. Unless prohibited by applicable law, the Tenant agrees to pay to the Landlord the amount of all reasonable
legal fees and costs and direct expenses incurred by the Landlord arising out of or resulting from any act or omission by the Tenant with respect to this Lease
or the Leased Premises including without limitation, any breach by the Tenant of its obligations hereunder.

Further, if the Tenant shall request the Landlord’s consent to or joinder in any instrument pertaining to this Lease, the Tenant agrees promptly to reimburse the
Landlord for the legal fees and expenses and such fees as are required to be paid by any mortgagee or other lender incurred by the Landlord in processing such
request, whether or not the Landlord consents thereto; and if the Tenant shall fail promptly so to reimburse the Landlord, same shall be deemed to be a default
in the Tenant’s monetary obligations under this Lease.

Whenever the Tenant shall request approval by the Landlord or the Landlord’s architect of plans, drawings, specifications, or otherwise with respect to initial
alteration of the Leased Premises, subsequent remodeling thereof, installation of signs including subsequent changes thereof, or the like, the Tenant
specifically agrees promptly to pay to the Landlord’s architect (or reimburse the Landlord for the payment the Landlord makes to said architect for) all charges
involved in the review (and re-review, if necessary) and approval or disapproval thereof whether or not approval shall ultimately be given.

Section 7.2. Alteration. This Lease may not be altered, changed or amended, except by an instrument in writing signed by both parties hereto.

Section 7.3. Non-Waiver. No course of dealing between Landlord and Tenant or any other person, nor any delay on the part of either party in exercising any
rights under this Lease, nor any failure to enforce any provisions of this Lease, nor the acceptance of rental by Landlord shall operate as a waiver of any rights
of Landlord, except to the extent, if any, expressly waived in writing by Landlord. The waiver by Landlord of any agreement, condition or provision herein
contained shall not be deemed a waiver of any subsequent breach of the same or any other agreement, condition or provision herein contained.

Section 7.4. Notices. Any notice or other communications to Landlord or Tenant required or permitted to be given under this Lease must be in writing and shall
be effectively given if hand-delivered to the addresses of Landlord and Tenant stated above if prior to the Commencement Date, or to Tenant at the Leased
Premises thereafter, with copies of all notices to Tenant to go to the attention of the Legal Department and a copy to Kevin P. Joyce, Esq. Nixon Peabody LLP
100 Summer Street, Boston, Ma 02110, if sent by United States Mail, certified or registered, return receipt requested, or if sent by a nationally recognized
overnight courier, to said addresses or as otherwise directed by each party. Notice shall be deemed to have been given at the time of actual
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delivery or refusal of delivery. Either party shall have the right to change its address to which notices shall thereafter be sent by giving the other written notice
thereof and to request that additional parties be given a copy of such notice, but not more than one (1) such additional party in the case of Tenant.

Section 7.5. Interest. All amounts of money payable by Tenant to Landlord under this Lease shall bear interest from the date due until paid at a rate equal to
the lower of (a) eighteen (18%) percent per annum, or (b) the maximum rate permitted by law, if any.

Section 7.6. Merger of Estates. The voluntary or other surrender of this Lease by Tenant or a mutual cancellation thereof, shall not constitute a merger and
shall, at the option of Landlord, either terminate all or any existing subleases or subtenancies, or operate as an assignment to Landlord of Tenant’s interest in
any or all such subleases or subtenancies.

Section 7.7. Other Tenants of Building. Neither this Lease nor Tenant’s continued occupancy of the Leased Premises is conditioned upon the opening of any
store or business in the Building, nor upon the continued operation of any store or business.

Section 7.8. Consent. Except where otherwise specifically noted, in all circumstances under this Lease where the prior consent or permission of Landlord or
Tenant is required before the other is authorized to take any particular type of action, such consent must be in writing.

Section 7.9. Legal Interpretation. This Lease and the rights and obligations of the parties hereto shall be interpreted, construed and enforced in accordance with
the laws of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts and the United States. All obligations of the parties hereto are independent and shall be performable in, and
all legal actions to enforce or construe this Lease shall be instituted in the courts of, Suffolk County, Massachusetts. The determination that one or more
provisions of this Lease is invalid, void, illegal or unenforceable shall not affect or invalidate the remainder. All obligations of either party requiring any
performance after the expiration of the Lease Term shall survive the expiration of the Lease Term and shall be fully enforceable in accordance with those
provisions pertaining thereto. Section titles appearing in this Lease are for convenient reference only and shall not be used to interpret or limit the meaning of
any provision of this Lease.

Section 7.10. Entire Agreement. Tenant agrees that this Lease supersedes and cancels any and all previous statements, negotiations, arrangements, brochures,
agreements and understandings, if any, between Landlord and Tenant or displayed by Landlord to Tenant with respect to the subject matter of this Lease, the
Leased Premises or the Building, and that there are no representations, agreements, or warranties (express or implied, oral or written) between Landlord and
Tenant with respect to the subject matter of this Lease, the Leased Premises or the Building other than contained in this Lease.

Section 7.11. Assignment by Landlord. Landlord shall have the right at any time to transfer and assign in whole or in part, by operation of law or otherwise,
its rights, benefits, privileges, duties
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and obligations hereunder or in the Building. Any successor Landlord by assignment shall be bound by the terms of this Lease. Tenant agrees to look only to
the Landlord hereunder for performance of such of the Landlord’s obligations hereunder as arise during its period of ownership of the tenant’s interest in the
Prime Lease.

Section 7.12. Authority. Each of Landlord and Tenant represents and warrants to the other that it has the full right, power and authority to enter into this Lease
and to perform its obligations hereunder, and that upon execution of this Lease by such party, this Lease shall constitute a valid and legally binding obligation

of such party. If Tenant signs as a corporation, each of the persons executing this Lease on behalf of Tenant does hereby covenant and warrant that Tenant is a
duly and validly existing corporation, that the execution of this Lease by such persons on behalf of Tenant has been duly authorized by all necessary corporate
action and that Tenant is qualified to do business in the Commonwealth of Massachusetts.

Section 7.13. Landlord’s Liability. Any provisions of this Lease to the contrary notwithstanding, Tenant hereby agrees that no personal, partnership or
corporate liability of any kind or character whatsoever now attaches or at any time hereafter under any condition shall attach to Landlord or its partners or
venturers for payment of any amounts payable under this Lease or for the performance of any obligation under this Lease. The exclusive remedies of Tenant
for the failure of Landlord to perform any of its obligations under this Lease shall be to proceed against the interest of Landlord from time to time and in the
Building.

Section 7.14. Time of the Essence. In all instances where Tenant is required under this Lease to pay any sum or do any act at a particular time or within a

particular period, it is understood that time is of the essence.

Section 7.15. Instruments and Evidence Required to Be Submitted to Landlord. Each written instrument and all evidence of the existence or non-existence of
any circumstances or conditions which is required by this Lease to be furnished to Landlord shall in all respects be in form and substance satisfactory to
Landlord, and the duty to furnish such written instrument or evidence shall not be considered satisfied until Landlord shall have acknowledged that it is
satisfied therewith.

Section 7.16. Counterparts. This Lease may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which when so executed and delivered shall be an original,
but such counterparts shall together constitute one and the same instrument.

Section 7.17. Gender. The pronouns of any gender shall include the other gender and either the singular or the plural shall include the other.

Section 7.18. Force Majeure. Whenever a period of time is herein described for the taking of any action by Landlord or Tenant except for the payment of
money, Landlord or Tenant, as the case may be, shall not be liable or responsible for, and there shall be excluded from the computation of such period of time,
any delays due to strikes, riots, acts of God, shortages of labor or materials,

[ * ] Indicates that information has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to a request for
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war, governmental laws, regulations or restrictions or any act, omission, delay or neglect of the other party hereto or any of such other party employees or
agents, or any other cause whatsoever beyond the control of such party.

Section 7.19. Recordation. Tenant agrees not to record this Lease, or any instrument to which this Lease may now or hereafter be attached. Either party may
record a Notice of Lease in statutory form.

Section 7.20. Prime Lease. Tenant recognizes and acknowledges the existence of the Prime Lease and that this Lease is a sublease of a portion of the Landlord’s
leasehold estate created by the Prime Lease. The termination of the Prime Lease for any reason whatsoever shall never constitute a default by the Landlord
hereunder nor shall such termination entitle Tenant to terminate this Lease or the payment of any rent or other sums due by the Tenant hereunder. Tenant
further agrees that this Lease is subject to all of the terms and provisions of the Prime Lease and hereby agrees to be bound by provisions thereof, including
but not limited to the provisions relating to employment and non-discrimination. By execution hereof, Tenant hereby acknowledges that it has received a copy
of all provisions of the Prime Lease relating to employment and non-discrimination all as set forth on Exhibit C attached hereto. Provided, however, that the
execution of this Lease by Landlord shall never be construed to be an approval hereof by the Prime Lessor, it being understood that the Prime Lessor cannot be
bound by any act or omission of Landlord. If Prime Lessor shall request a modification of this Lease, Tenant shall not unreasonably withhold or delay its
consent to a modification which does not materially adversely affect Tenant’s rights and privileges hereunder or impose material burdens on Tenant.

Section 7.21. Commissions. Each party warrants and represents to the other that it has dealt with no broker except as described in Article I hereof. Each party
hereby agrees to defend, indemnify, and hold harmless the other, from and against any claim by third parties for brokerage, commissions, finders or other
fees relative to this Lease or the leasing of space in the Building, and any court costs, attorneys’ fees or other costs or expenses arising therefrom, alleged to be
due by any broker other than as described in Article I hereof. The Landlord covenants and agrees that it shall be solely responsible for payment of all fees due
such broker pursuant to the terms of a separate contract between Landlord and such broker.

Section 7.22 Surrender of Premises and Holding Over. On or before the last day of the Term, Tenant shall surrender the Leased Premises to Landlord in good
condition and repair except for (i) reasonable wear and tear, and (ii) damage by casualty or the elements or taking by eminent domain (unless Tenant is
obligated to repair such damage pursuant to the terms of this Lease). On or before said day, Tenant shall remove all its personal property and Trade Fixtures
(including Tenant’s signs) from the Leased Premises, and any alterations which Landlord requires be removed except only any which Landlord agreed need
not be removed pursuant to Section 5.4 above and repair all damage incurred in the removal of the same. Upon termination of this Lease Tenant shall deliver
the Leased Premises to Landlord broom clean and free of all trash and debris. If Tenant shall remain in possession of the Leased Premises without extension

[ * 1 Indicates that information has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to a request for
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after the expiration of the Term, Tenant shall hold as a tenant at sufferance, at a charge for use and occupancy, and not as rent, of the Leased Premises equal to
[ * ] of the highest monthly installment of Base Rental applicable during the Term plus all Additional Rent for each month or portion thereof for which Tenant
remains in possession. In all other respects Landlord and Tenant shall be subject to the terms, provisions and conditions of this Lease provided Tenant shall
be liable for all damages incurred by Landlord as a result of Tenant holding over. No surrender to Landlord of this Lease or of the Leased Premises or any part
thereof or of any interest therein by Tenant shall be valid or effective unless required by the provisions of this Lease or unless agreed to and accepted in writing
by Landlord. No act on the part of any representative or agent of Landlord, and no act on the part of Landlord other than such a written agreement acceptance
by Landlord, shall constitute or be deemed an acceptance of any such surrender.

Section 7.23 Relocation of Premises. Intentionally Deleted.

Section 7.24 When Lease Becomes Binding. The submission of this document for examination and negotiation does not constitute an offer to lease, or a
reservation of, or option for, the Leased Premises, and this document shall become effective and binding only upon the execution and delivery hereof by both
Landlord and Tenant.

Section 7.25 No Construction Against Drafting Party. Landlord and Tenant acknowledge that each of them and their counsel have had an opportunity to
review this Lease and that this Lease will not be construed against either party merely because its counsel has prepared it.

Section 7.26 OFAC List. Tenant represents and warrants that it is not listed, nor is it owned or controlled by, or acting for or on behalf of any person or entity,
on the list of Specially Designated Nationals and Blocked Persons maintained by the Office of Foreign Assets Control of the United States Department of the
Treasury, or any other list of persons or entities with whom Landlord is restricted from doing business with (“OFAC List”). Notwithstanding anything to the
contrary herein contained, Tenant shall not permit the Premises or any portion thereof to be used, occupied or operated by or for the benefit of any person or
entity that is on the OFAC List. Tenant shall provide documentary and other evidence of Tenant’s identity and ownership as may be reasonably requested by
Landlord at any time to enable Landlord to verify Tenant’s identity or to comply with any Legal Requirement.

ARTICLE VIII
Section 8.1. Definitions. As used in this Lease, the following terms shall have the respective meanings indicated:

Building shall mean that certain building known as the Boston Design Center located in Boston, Massachusetts, as the same may now or hereafter exist or as
it may from time to time hereafter be expanded or modified.

[ * ] Indicates that information has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to a request for
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Building Rules shall mean rules and regulations adopted and altered by Landlord from time to time for the safety, care and cleanliness of the Leased Premises
and the Building and for the preservation of good order therein, all of which will be sent by Landlord to Tenant in writing and shall thereafter be carried out
and observed by Tenant. The initial Building Rules are attached hereto as Exhibit B and no such rules and regulations shall be enforced against Tenant in a
discriminatory fashion as between Tenant and other tenants of like size and nature.

Commencement Date shall mean the date shown in Article I hereof.

Operating Costs shall mean all operating expenses of the Project and shall consist of all expenditures by Landlord to maintain all of the Project in operation at
the beginning of the Lease Term and such additional facilities in subsequent years as may be determined by Landlord to be necessary and beneficial to the
operation of the Project. The term “operating expenses” as used herein shall mean all expenses, costs and disbursements (but, except as otherwise herein
provided, not replacement of capital investment items except as provided in (g) below nor specific costs specifically billed to and paid by specific tenants) of
every kind and nature which Landlord shall pay or become obligated to pay because of or in connection with the ownership, maintenance, promotion,
insuring or operation of the Project, including, but not limited to, the following:

(a) Wages and salaries of all employees engaged in operation and maintenance or security (to the extent provided) of all or any part of the Project,
including taxes, insurance and benefits relating to such employees.

(b) All supplies and materials used in the operation and maintenance of any part of the Project.

(c) Costs of all utilities for the Project, including the cost of water and power, heating, lighting, air conditioning and ventilating for all or any part of the
Project.

(d) Costs of all maintenance, janitorial, security (to the extent provided) and service agreements for the Project, and the equipment therein, including
alarm service, window cleaning, snow removal and elevator maintenance.

(e) Costs of all insurance relating to the Project, including cost of casualty and liability insurance and Landlord’s personal property used in connection
therewith.

(f) Costs of repairs and general maintenance of any part of the Project (excluding repairs and general maintenance paid by proceeds of insurance or by
Tenant or other third parties, and alterations attributable solely to tenants of the Building other than Tenant) including, without limitation, landscaping of any
part of the Project.

[ * ] Indicates that information has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to a request for
confidential treatment.

-25-




(g) Amortization of the cost of installation of capital improvements to the extent that in the judgment of Landlord the same are reasonably necessary to
continue the Project as a first class real estate project or will reduce, or reduce the rate of increase of, other Operating Costs or are required to cause the Project
or any part thereof to be in compliance with any applicable law or with the request of any insurer or board of underwriters. All of such costs shall be amortized
over the reasonable life of such improvements, and a pro rata portion thereof included within Operating Costs for each year the same is so amortized, together
with interest at the rate of fifteen percent (15%) per annum on all unamortized balances. The reasonable life and amortization schedule of the foregoing shall be
determined in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and in no event shall such reasonable life extend beyond the reasonable life of the
Building or other part of the Project to which such costs are related.

(h) Landlord’s central accounting and overhead costs applicable to the Project.

(1) All fees, costs and charges paid to any person or entity who provides services, including management and marketing services to any part of the
Project.

(j) All amounts payable by Landlord as real estate taxes or payments in lieu of real estate taxes or Tax Rent payable by the Landlord under the Prime
Lease, all herein collectively referred to as “Taxes”. The term “Taxes” includes, without limitation, the following: any fire service or other charges for
municipal services and all governmental impositions and taxes imposed upon the Building and the land thereunder (the “Land”), and assessments, as well as
all ad valorem, license or other taxes imposed upon the Building or the Land and/or imposed upon Landlord by reason of its ownership thereof or this Lease
other than state or federal inheritance or succession taxes. If at any time during the Lease Term, the methods of taxation of real estate prevailing at the
commencement of the execution hereof shall be altered so that in lieu of, in addition to, or as a substitute for, the whole or any part of the Taxes, there shall be
levied, assessed or imposed (i) a tax, assessment, levy, imposition or charge, wholly or partially as capital levy or otherwise, on the rents received therefrom;
or (ii) a tax, assessment, levy, imposition or charge measured by or based in whole or in part upon the Leased Premises and imposed upon Landlord; or (iii) a
tax license fee or the like measured by the rents payable, the same shall be included as Taxes hereunder.

(k) All amounts payable by Landlord to Prime Lessor under the Prime Lease.

Operating Costs for any calendar year during the Lease Term shall be computed and adjusted upward so that Operating Costs shall at all times equal the
product of actual Operating Costs incurred during such year, as reasonably adjusted by Landlord to cause Operating Costs to be the amount that would have
been incurred had there been 100% occupancy in the

Building for the period in question, times the fraction, the numerator of which is the Rentable Area of the Building and the denominator of which is the average
number (determined on annualized basis) of the Rentable Area of the Building which is, during such year, subject to a lease agreement with Landlord under
which the tenant thereunder is required to pay its proportionate share of

[ * ] Indicates that information has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to a request for
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Operating Costs. Debt service and leasing commissions payable by Landlord shall be excluded from any computation of Operating Costs.

Prime Lease shall mean that certain long term lease agreement dated March 21, 1985 by and between The Economic Development and Industrial Corporation
of Boston, a corporation organized under the laws of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts, as Prime Lessor and Landlord as Prime Lessee, covering the
Building and certain real property on which the Building is situated, as the same may be amended from time to time.

Project shall mean the Building, the land upon which the Building is situated and all other improvements now or hereafter situated on such land.

Trade Fixtures shall mean any and all signs placed by Tenant within the Leased Premises pursuant to provisions hereof and any and all items of property
used by Tenant in the Leased Premises including, but not limited to, furniture and equipment; provided, however, that the term “Trade Fixtures” shall not
include any permanent leasehold improvements including, but not limited to, any floor, wall or ceiling coverings, any interior walls or partitions, any lighting
fixtures, track lights or any property a part of or associated with any electrical, plumbing or mechanical system, notwithstanding that the same may have been
installed within the Leased Premises.

Section 8.2. Exhibits, Supplements and Riders. The Exhibits, Supplements and Riders attached to this Lease are hereby incorporated herein and hereby made
a part of this Lease. To the extent the terms of Exhibit E attached to this Lease are inconsistent with the terms of this Lease, the Exhibit E terms shall be deemed
to modify the terms of this Lease.

IN TESTIMONY WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Lease as of the day and year first above written.

“LANDLORD”
BOSTON DESIGN CENTER LLC,
a Delaware limited liability company

By:  VORNADO REALTY L.P., its managing member
By: VORNADO REALTY TRUST, its general partner

By: /S/ CHRISTOPHER G. KENNEDY Date: ___3/24/06
Name: Christopher G. Kennedy

“TENANT”
BOSTON BEER CORPORATION

By: /S/JIM KOCH Date: March 22, 2006
Title: Chairman

Hereunto Duly Authorized

[ * ] Indicates that information has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to a request for
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Exhibit A — Floor Plan

Exhibit B — Building Rules and Regulations

Exhibit C — Non-Discrimination and Employment Requirements
Exhibit D — Rental Payment Schedule

Exhibit E — Terms & Conditions

Exhibit F — Authorization Agreement for Automatic Rental Payments
Exhibit G — EDIC Form SNDA

Exhibit H — Tenant’s Work
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EXHIBIT A

{see attached Floor Plan}

(Image of Floor Plan)




EXHIBIT B
BUILDING RULES AND REGULATIONS

The following rules shall apply, where applicable, to the Leased Premises, the Building, the land situated beneath the Building and the appurtenances
thereto:

1. The Leased Premises shall be used only for the purposes set forth in the Lease.

2. Landlord reserves the right to require any tenant to cease construction activity if in Landlord’s reasonable opinion such activity interferes with any
market exhibition.

3. Intentionally Deleted.

4. With respect to work being performed by Tenant in the Leased Premises, Tenant will refer all contractors, contractors’ representatives and installation
technicians rendering any service to Tenant to Landlord for Landlord’s supervision, approval and control before the performance of any contractual services.
All such contractors, representatives and technicians must be approved by Landlord, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld. All of the same
shall at all times comply with the provisions of Exhibit C.

5. Electric current shall not be used for heating without Landlord’s prior written consent. Under no condition shall the Tenant disconnect or override any
thermostats or other heat sensors or controls, adjust or close any valves for any portion of any heating or cooling system, take any action which would tend to
prevent or restrict the flow through that system, or fail to repair any window that would allow air infiltration which might allow a pipe to freeze.

6. Plumbing, fixtures and appliances shall be used only for the purposes for which designed, and no sweepings, rubbish, rags or other unsuitable
material shall be thrown or placed therein.

7. In the event that any check or other instrument delivered to Landlord in payment of any rent due under this Lease is returned to the Landlord as a
result of insufficient funds or for any other reason whatsoever without payment in full to the Landlord of the sums specified in such check or instrument,
Tenant shall pay to Landlord, upon demand by Landlord, the greater of the actual costs and expenses incurred by the Landlord as a result of its inability to
collect the sums specified in such check or other instrument or Forty-Five Dollars ($45.00); provided, however, the minimum amount payable to Landlord
may be adjusted upward by Landlord from time to time in order to approximate actual costs and expenses customarily incurred by Landlord in such
connection.

8. When Tenant assumes possession of the Leased Premises, Tenant is required to replace the existing lock with Tenant’s own lock. Landlord shall not
be liable to Tenant or any other person for (and Tenant shall indemnify and hold Landlord harmless from) any damage or injury resulting from, but not
limited to, damage or injury to doors, windows and other portions of the Leased Premises done by Landlord in order to obtain immediate access to the Leased
Premises




in the event that Landlord in its sole discretion determines that such immediate access is necessary. Upon termination of the Lease, Tenant shall deliver all
keys to the Leased Premises to Landlord. Tenant shall pay any charges imposed by Landlord for additional keys, changing the locks or failing to return keys
at rates established by Landlord from time to time. Upon termination of the Lease, Tenant shall, upon request of Landlord, at its sole cost and expense,
remove any additional locks placed on the doors to the Leased Premises by Tenant and restore any locks on the doors to the Leased Premises changed by
Tenant to the condition of such locks prior to such change by Tenant.

9. No signs (including, without limitation, “samples for sale” signs and any electrically or gas lighted signs), tags, labels, advertisements or other
notices shall be installed, displayed, inscribed, painted or affixed on, upon, within or to any windows or doors or other part of the Building or the Leased
Premises except in accordance with written rules regarding signage adopted from time to time by Landlord. No item of decoration to be situated within the
Leased Premises visible from outside of the Leased Premises, including but not limited to carpet, lamps, graphics, paintings, furniture, calendars, equipment,
and plants shall be placed in or situated within the Leased Premises if reasonably objected to by Landlord.

10. Tenant shall not display a “For Rent” sign upon the Leased Premises or otherwise advertise the Leased Premises for rent in any manner. During the
thirty (30) day period preceding expiration of the Lease, Landlord may place on the doors or windows of the Leased Premises one or more “For Rent” signs of
reasonable dimensions, and otherwise advertise the Leased Premises for rent.

11. Tenant shall not make or permit any improper, objectionable or unpleasant noises or odors in the Building or use any loudspeaker, phonograph,
radio or sound amplifier heard outside the Leased Premises or otherwise interfere in any way with other tenants or persons having business with them.

12.  Nothing shall be swept or thrown into the corridors, halls, elevator shafts or stairways. No birds or animals shall be brought into or kept in, on or
about the Building or the Leased Premises.

13.  Tenant shall not install, put up or operate any steam engine, boiler, machinery upon the Leased Premises or use or permit to be used or kept upon the
Leased Premises any kerosene, camphene, bottled gas, oil or any other inflammable or explosive materials. No portion of the Leased Premises shall at any time
be used or occupied as sleeping or lodging quarters.

14. Landlord shall have the right to prescribe the weight and position of safes and other heavy equipment or objects to be placed in the Leased Premises
by Tenant, which shall in all cases, be located as to distribute weight, and shall stand on supporting devices approved by Landlord. Tenant shall bear any
reasonable and necessary expense incurred by Landlord in connection with such determination, including, without limitation, the cost of any engineering
studies or surveys conducted by engineers to be selected by Landlord. Tenant shall notify Landlord when safes or other heavy objects are to be taken in or out
of the Building, and the moving shall be done under the
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supervision of Landlord. Persons employed by Tenant to move such property must be acceptable to Landlord.

15. Tenant shall keep the Leased Premises neat and clean. Tenant shall not employ any person for the purpose of such cleaning except such persons as
Landlord shall have approved, and who are bonded and insured with companies and in amounts satisfactory to Landlord. No janitorial services are provided
by Landlord within the Leased Premises.

16. Except to the extent required by applicable law, Landlord shall be in no way responsible to the Tenant, its agents, employees, or invitees for any loss
of property from the Leased Premises or public areas or for any damages to any property thereon from any cause whatsoever, nor shall Landlord be
responsible for lost or stolen personal property, money or jewelry from the Leased Premises, regardless of whether such loss occurs when the area is locked.

17.  Movement in or out of the Building of furniture or office equipment, or dispatch or receipt by Tenant of any bulky material, merchandise or
materials shall be under the supervision of Landlord and shall be performed in the manner agreed between the Tenant and Landlord by prearrangement before
performance. The Landlord shall have the right to determine in its sole discretion the time, method and routing of such movement and to impose all such other
reasonable restrictions or limitations which in Landlord’s opinion are required under the circumstances. All loading and unloading in connection with such
movement shall be performed at docks designated by Landlord. In no event shall the front and side doors of the Building be used for loading and unloading.
The Tenant shall assume all risk of damage to articles moved and injury to persons or property arising out of such movement including equipment, property
and personnel of Landlord furnished as a service to Tenant. Except to the extent required by applicable law, Landlord shall not be liable for the acts of any
person engaged in, or any damage or loss to any of said property or persons resulting from, any act in connection with such service performed for Tenant.

18. Landlord may at its election (but shall have no obligation to do so) receive and store articles of merchandise delivered to Tenant at the Building,
provided, that such articles of merchandise are properly addressed and identified and all postage, handling and delivery charges are prepaid by Tenant. Except
to the extent required by applicable law, Landlord assumes no responsibility whatsoever for the loss, damage or destruction of such articles of merchandise
received at the Building by Landlord on behalf of Tenant, and Tenant hereby waives all claims against Landlord for any damage or loss arising at any time
for the loss, damage or destruction of such articles of merchandise. Any expenses incurred by Landlord at the request or for the account of the Tenant for
labor, material, packing, shipping, postage, freight or express upon articles of merchandise delivered to the Building shall be due and payable to Landlord by
Tenant upon demand.

19. Landlord reserves the right to prescribe reasonable hours, conditions and qualifications for admission into the Building or any part thereof.

20. Canvassing, peddling, soliciting, buttonholing, selling and distributing of handbills or any other written material in or about the Building or the
Building’s parking areas are prohibited.
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21. Sidewalks, doorways, vestibules, corridors, stairways and other similar areas shall not be obstructed by Tenant or used by Tenant for any purpose
other than ingress or egress to and from the Leased Premises and for going from one to another part of the Building. Placement of show cases and other
property and storage of merchandise or showroom materials in such areas is strictly prohibited.

22. Landlord shall not be obligated to set up or furnish display items (tables, chairs, etc.) or any other items of equipment for use by Tenant.

23. Tenant shall not, without the prior written consent of Landlord, install within the Leased Premises any food, soft drink or other vending machine or
any machinery or other equipment which shall require for its use other than normal electrical current or other utility service.

24. Tenant shall not conduct any fire, auction, “going out of business”, bankruptcy, “lost our lease” or similar sale and shall not make any unlawful
use of the Leased Premises or permit any unlawful use thereof and shall not commit any act which is a nuisance or annoyance to Landlord or to other tenants
in the Building, or which might, in the exclusive judgment of Landlord, appreciably damage Landlord’s goodwill or reputation, or tend to damage, injure or
depreciate the Building.

25. To the extent of any conflict between any provision of these Rules and Regulations and any provision in the Lease, the provisions of the Lease shall
control.

26. Landlord may waive any one or more of these Rules and Regulations for the benefit of Tenant or any other tenant of the Building, but no such waiver
by Landlord shall be construed as a waiver of such Rules and Regulations in favor of any other tenant nor prevent Landlord from thereafter enforcing any
such Rules and Regulations against Tenant or any or all of the tenants in the Building.

27. Except only to the extent noted in Section 3.1 of the Lease and in Paragraph P of Exhibit E, Landlord has no obligation to furnish plumbing or water
to the Leased Premises.

28. “Normal Business Hours” as used in the Lease shall mean 8:00 a.m. to 6:00 p.m., five (5) days a week from Monday through Friday inclusive,
exclusive of the following holidays: New Years Day, Memorial Day, Independence Day, Labor Day, Thanksgiving Day and Christmas Day and any other
official holiday recognized as such by the Commonwealth of Massachusetts on which Landlord elects to close the Building.

29. Intentionally deleted.
30. Tenants are responsible for breaking down all cardboard boxes as well as parking crates and leaving them in designated trash areas.

31. Landlord reserves the right to rescind any of these Rules and Regulations and to make such other and further rules as in its judgment shall from time
to time be needed for the
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safety, protection, care and cleanliness of the Building, the operation thereof, the preservation of good order therein and the protection and comfort of the
tenants in the Building and their agents, employees and invitees, which rules, when made and written notice thereof is given to Tenant, shall be binding upon
it in like manner as if originally herein prescribed, notwithstanding anything in these Rules and Regulations or the Lease to which they are attached to the
contrary.

32. The Boston Design Center is a smoke-free building. No smoking is allowed in the public spaces of the building including, but not limited to, the
stairways, bathrooms, and hallways.

33. Tenants are required to turn off their lights at the end of each day.

/S/ JK
Tenant Initials
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EXHIBIT C
NON-DISCRIMINATION AND EMPLOYMENT REQUIREMENTS

1. Purpose. This Exhibit C contains the requirements of this Lease with respect to non-discrimination, employment and related matters. These
requirements are imposed because the Leased Premises were acquired with funds made available under Title I of the Housing and Community Development
Act of 1974 as amended, and are leased to Tenant as part of an overall plan to provide jobs for unemployed and underemployed persons in the City of
Boston, all within the intent and purposes of Chapter 1097 of the Acts of 1971 and the Economic Development Plan for the Boston Marine Industrial Park.

2. Non-Discrimination Requirements. Tenant covenants that it will not and shall require its subtenants to covenant that they will not discriminate on the
basis of race, color, age (other than as permitted by the Age Discrimination in Employment Act of 1975 as amended and applicable state law), sex (except
where sex is a bona fide occupational qualification), creed, national origin, or mental or physical handicap (other than as permitted by the Rehabilitation Act of
1973 as amended and applicable state law) in their employment practices, their contractual arrangements, the accommodations they offer to the public, and in
their other business operations relating to or involving the Leased Premises. (By virtue of the non-discrimination covenant in the deed of the Project dated
July 19, 1983 from the General Services Administration to the Prime Lessor, the United States may be deemed a beneficiary of and may have the right to
enforce this covenant independently of this Lease.)

3. General Contract Requirements. Tenant shall use all reasonable efforts to insure that contracts entered into by Tenant for activities or services relating to
the Leased Premises shall be with persons residing in the City of Boston, or firms which are located in, or owned, in substantial part by persons residing in,
the City of Boston. Tenant shall also use all reasonable efforts to insure that jobs and training under these contracts shall be given to low and moderate income
persons residing in the City of Boston and to contract with small, minority-owned (minority refers to Asian American, Black, Hispanic American, North
American Indian and Cape Verdian), and female-owned businesses for supplies, equipment, construction and services, as small businesses are defined by the
Small Business Administration. Tenant shall include the foregoing provisions in any sublease or assignment.

4. Permanent Employment Requirements. Tenant shall use all reasonable efforts, in the conduct of its own business activities and, consistent with the
requirements of Article 6 of the Prime Lease by its selection of sublessees, to create jobs on the Leased Premises that will benefit low and moderate income
persons. Tenant shall use all reasonable efforts to fill all vacancies for permanent jobs on the Leased Premises with:

a. fifty-one percent (51%) low or moderate income persons;

b. twenty-five percent (25%) women:




c. twenty-five percent (25%) minorities;
d. fifty percent (50%) City of Boston residents; and
e. fifteen percent (15%) JTPA-eligible persons (JTPA refers to Job Training Partnership Act of 1982).

Any such person may satisfy more than one of the above categories. Low and moderate income persons shall be persons whose annual wage level is below that
of eighty percent (80%) of the median family income for the Boston Metropolitan Statistical Area. Jobs shall include all job openings whether full-time or part-
time, or created by attrition or expansion. Tenant shall obligate its sublessees and assignees to use all reasonable efforts to comply with the foregoing standards.

5. Cooperation With City of Boston Agencies. To fill all jobs on or relating to the Leased Premises, whether full-time, part-time, or seasonal, or created by
expansion or attrition, Tenant agrees to cooperate with the City of Boston, Prime Lessor and any other public or private agency named by Prime Lessor as its
designee, including but not limited to the City of Boston Neighborhood Development and Employment Agency, the Boston Job Exchange and the South Boston
Community Development Corporation. Tenant shall notify, and shall obligate its sublessees or assignees to notify, Prime Lessor or Prime Lessor’s designee of
all new jobs and training on the Leased Premises during the Term of this Lease. Tenant will allow, and shall require its assignees and sublessees to allow, five
(5) working days for Prime Lessor or Prime Lessor’s designee to provide at least one (1) satisfactory applicant for an available permanent position. If Prime
Lessor or Prime Lessor’s designee has not within five (5) days provided a satisfactory applicant or has notified Tenant of its inability to find a qualified
applicant Tenant may then fill such a position.

6. Tenant’s Quarterly Reports to Landlord and Prime Lessor. Tenant shall submit quarterly employment reports to Landlord and Prime Lessor in the
form of Prime Lessor’s then current form, showing changes in total employment and the number of new or replacement employees hired since the last reporting
period, the total number of employees on the Leased Premises and the number of Boston residents, minorities, women, and low and moderate income persons
employed on the Leased Premises by Tenant, its assignees, or sublessees.

7. Tenant’s Records Available to Landlord and Prime Lessor. Tenant shall make available for the Landlord’s and Prime Lessor’s inspection at reasonable
times all records of the Tenant, its successors, sublessees, and assignees directly related to employment, necessary for Landlord and Prime Lessor to ascertain
compliance with all provisions of this Exhibit.

/S/ JK
Tenant’s Initials




EXHIBIT D
BASE RENTAL PAYMENT SCHEDULE

[*]
[ * 1 Indicates that information has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to a request for
confidential treatment.




EXHIBIT E
TERMS & CONDITIONS

A. Tenant shall have one option to renew this Lease for an additional successive 5-year period (the “Renewal Period””) upon the same terms and conditions in
effect during the initial Lease Term, except (i) for the amounts of Base Rental which shall be equal to the greater of the prior year Base Rent or [ * ] of the
applicable fair market rent, (ii) all Landlord Work shall be deemed satisfied and (iii) there shall be no further renewal or extension rights and no free rent or
Landlord contributions. The option may not be exercised if Tenant is in default, beyond applicable grace and cure periods.

1. To exercise the option, Tenant must notify Landlord in writing that it is exercising its right to extend the term for a 5-year period, which notice
must be received by Landlord not later than [ * ] . If Tenant fails to provide Landlord with such notice, the Term shall end at the original end of the Lease
Term.

2. If Tenant gives Landlord timely notice of its intention to renew this Lease, then within sixty (60) days thereafter, Landlord shall give Tenant
written notice of the amounts to be the Base Rental amounts for each year of the option term for Tenant’s space.

3. Inthe event that Tenant disputes the amounts set by Landlord, Tenant may, within fifteen (15) days of its receipt of notice from Landlord
establishing such rent, give notice to Landlord of such dispute (“Tenant’s Dispute Notice”) and thereupon the matter shall be submitted to arbitration in
accordance with the terms set forth in Subsection 4. below, otherwise Base Rental shall be as set by Landlord. Notwithstanding the submission of the
issue of “fair market rent” to arbitration, Base Rental for the first and next ensuing years of the Renewal Period shall be paid at the Landlord’s amount
until the arbitration is completed. If, upon completion of the arbitration, it is determined that Base Rental is less or more than that set by Landlord, then
an adjustment based upon such lower or greater rent shall be made based on the number of months paid by Tenant and the adjustment shall be payable in
full within the next 60 days. In no event shall the extension of the term of this Lease be affected by the determination of the rent, such exercise of extension
being fixed at the time at which notice is given.

4. In the event Landlord and Tenant shall be unable to agree on the amount to be the Base Rental for each year of the option term within the 30 days
next after Landlord’s receipt of Tenant’s Dispute Notice, the amount shall be established in the following manner of arbitration:

(a) Each of Tenant and Landlord shall, within the next 15 days choose and notify the other of an arbitrator knowledgeable in the field of
establishing fair rental values in this area and with no less than ten years commercial experience doing so;

[ * ] Indicates that information has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to a request for
confidential treatment.




(b) The arbitrators selected in accordance with “(a)” above shall select a third such arbitrator within the next 15 days;

(c) Within thirty (30) days after their appointment, the arbitrators shall determine the a fair market rent for the Leased Premises for each year of the
Renewal Period which in no event, for any arbitrator or any year, shall be less than the Base Rental payable for the prior year, and shall notify
Tenant and Landlord of such determination. Subject to the foregoing, such determination shall be final and binding upon Tenant and Landlord.
If the arbitrators are unable to agree upon the fair market rent for any year, the fair market rent will be deemed to be the average of the fair market
rents proposed by the arbitrators for such year, except that (i) if the lowest proposed fair market rent is less than [ * ] of the second to lowest
proposed fair market rent, the lowest proposed fair market rent will automatically be deemed to be [ * ] of the second to lowest proposed fair
market rent and (ii) if the highest proposed fair market rent is greater than [ * ] of the second to highest proposed fair market rent, the highest
proposed fair market rent will automatically be deemed to be [ * ] of the second to highest proposed fair market rent.

(d) The foregoing arbitration shall be conducted in accordance with the rules of the American Arbitration Association or its successors;
(e) Landlord and Tenant shall each pay one-half (1/2) of the cost of the arbitration proceedings.

Whether determined by the Landlord and Tenant or the arbitrators, fair market rent shall be determined based on the following rents in the following order of
priority (most weighted to least weighted): rent for space on the same floor in the Premises; rent for similar space in the Building; other space in the Building;
and other comparable space in comparable areas of the City of Boston.

B. Tenant shall be granted a right to have a number of non-exclusive parking spaces in the Building’s tenant parking lots, available on a “first come, first
serve” basis, [ * ] or (ii) the average same year annual per space cost charged tenants by Landlord for parking spaces in the Building’s tenant parking lots,
which amount shall be payable as additional rent, in advance, for each year for all or any portion thereof for use at any time prior to the date on which (i) there
is a default not timely cured or (ii) there is any transfer or assignment of the lease or any interest in the Tenant (other than a Landlord consented to transfer).
Landlord shall have the right to relocate the tenant parking area at any time, without notice. Absent Landlord’s specific written agreement referencing this
paragraph to the contrary, the number of spaces to which tenant shall be entitled and deemed to have elected to rent in any calendar year shall be the least of (i)
[*],

[ * ] Indicates that information has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to a request for
confidential treatment.
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(i) the number of spaces which Tenant notifies Landlord on or before October 1 of a calendar year that it desires for the following calendar year or (iii) the
number of spaces which Tenant previously notified Landlord that it desired for a calendar year, and the cost of such spaces shall be due and payable within
thirty (30) days of Landlord’s invoice therefor. The parties agree that any fees otherwise due from Tenant for such parking are deemed received by Landlord as
payment for surface parking.

C. [*]

D. Ifin Tenant’s opinion, Tenant’s computer room requires any additional air conditioning, Tenant, at tenant’s sole cost and election, and subject to
Landlord’s prior written approval, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld, delayed or conditioned, shall have the right to install supplemental air
conditioning units on the roof of the Building. All costs associated with such units, including without limitation any associated with installation, operations
(including without limitation electricity, and separate metering for such electricity), repair, removal (whether temporary for roof work, permanently at the end
of the term or otherwise) shall be borne by Tenant and, to the extent not paid directly by Tenant and paid by Landlord, shall be due and payable as additional
rent upon demand. All work shall be subject to the other terms and provisions of this Lease, including without limitation the terms of Section 4.2. Tenant
agrees to indemnify and hold Landlord harmless from any loss, cost, damage or claim arising from such additional air conditioning units.

E. [*]
F.[*].
G. [*]

H. Provided that on the applicable reduction date the Tenant has maintained this Lease without a default not cured within the grace or cure period applicable
to that default and there is then no outstanding default, Landlord agrees that the amount of the Security Deposit shall be reduced by [ * ].

I. Tenant agrees that the terms of this Lease will be kept confidential by it and any Guarantor and shall not be disclosed to any third parties without
Landlord’s prior written consent. Tenant shall treat the terms of this Lease as confidential information in the same manner as it treats its own confidential
information. Tenant further acknowledges that any disclosure may cause Landlord irreparable harm, and agrees that any such disclosure may be enjoined.
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary, Tenant may disclose the terms of this Lease if required to do so by law or court order.

Io[*]

[ * 1 Indicates that information has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to a request for
confidential treatment.




K. Wherever used in this lease concerning Landlord’s consent or approval, the words “shall not unreasonably be withheld” shall be interpreted to mean,
“shall not unreasonably be withheld, conditioned or delayed”.

L. [*]

M. The sale or distribution of alcoholic beverages at the Property (i) to the public, is generally prohibited, and (ii) to the Tenant’s employees and business
guests is prohibited absent all applicable permits and approvals required in accordance with applicable laws and ordinances.

N. Tenant may use and occupy the Premises on or after July 1, 2006 for the purpose of performing the initial tenant improvement work necessary to ready
the Leased Premises for Tenant’s occupancy (“Tenant’s Initial Work™), including the work more particularly described on Exhibit H, which work and
occupancy shall be subject to all of the terms and conditions of this Lease, except that Tenant shall not be obligated to pay Base Rent, Tenant’s Proportionate
Share of Operating Costs or Separately Metered Utilities and Utility Usage under Sections 2.3, 2.4 or 2.5 of this Lease for such occupancy prior to October 1,
2006. However, Tenant shall pay Landlord $[ * ] ] on July 1, 2006 and on the first of each of the two months next thereafter as a contribution toward
electricity in exchange for such right of early occupancy. If Tenant’s work as set forth on Exhibit G does not refer to complete plans and specifications
approved by Landlord, then Tenant shall promptly following execution of this Lease cause such complete plans and specifications to be prepared at Tenant’s
cost and submitted to Landlord for Landlord’s prior written approval before Tenant’s work is commenced. Landlord shall not unreasonably withhold,
condition or delay such approval.

0. Provided Tenant notifies Landlord in writing in advance that it desires use and occupancy earlier than July 1, 2006 and such notice includes payment of
the June Occupancy Fee, Tenant may occupy the Premises for all or any portion of the month of June 2006 for the purpose of performing the Tenant’s Initial
Work, which work and occupancy shall be subject to all of the terms and conditions of this Lease, except that Tenant shall not be obligated to pay Base Rent,
Tenant’s Proportionate Share of Operating Costs or Separately Metered Utilities and Utility Usage under Sections 2.3, 2.4 or 2.5 of this Lease for such June
occupancy. The term “June Occupancy Fee” shall mean [ * ].

P. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary elsewhere in the Lease, but subject to the following and other terms of this Lease, Landlord shall permit Tenant
access to an existing waste stack and an existing source of water so as to allow disposal of sanitary waste from and the supply of water to no more than two
bathrooms (each having no greater number of water using fixtures than one sink and a total of two urinals or toilets) and a shower in each bathroom, plus

such other fixtures commonly found in an office environment such as sinks, dishwashers, coffee makers, bubblers, and the like that Tenant may wish to
construct as part of the Tenant Work. Tenant shall be wholly responsible for installing, maintaining and servicing the bathrooms and the associated waste and
supply lines not now existing that are located within or without the

[ * ] Indicates that information has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to a request for
confidential treatment.
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Leased Premises and for obtaining all necessary permits and approvals for such use, installation, maintenance and repair. All such work shall be done at such
times as may be reasonably convenient for Landlord’s supervisor and so as to minimize interference with other tenants, and shall require prior written
approval by the Landlord, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed, and, if involving significantly more water use than a
few sinks, shall include appropriate separate metering. The separately metered water and sewer charges paid for by Tenant hereunder shall not be included in
Operating Costs. Tenant shall indemnify Landlord for any and all losses damages and claims, including costs of defense and reasonable attorneys’ fees,
arising from the bathrooms or such water or waste lines, whether from water damage, odors, insects or otherwise, except if caused by Landlord or Landlord’s
agent.

Q [*]
R. [*]

[ * ] Indicates that information has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to a request for
confidential treatment.
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EXHIBIT F

AUTHORIZATION AGREEMENT FOR AUTOMATIC RENTAL PAYMENTS
(DIRECT DEBITS)

TENANT hereby authorizes “LANDLORD?”, whose tax identification number is , to initiate Debit Entries in the amount permitted by
the terms of the Lease Agreement between LANDLORD and TENANT, from TENANT’S account with the following depository:

DEPOSITORY NAME:

BRANCH:

CITY, STATE & ZIP:

DEPOSITORY ABA #:

TENANT’S ACCOUNT #:

This authority shall remain in full force and effect until LANDLORD and the DEPOSITORY have received written notification from TENANT of its
termination and LANDLORD and DEPOSITORY have had a reasonable opportunity to act on it.

TENANT TAX ID NUMBER:

TENANT NAME:

TENANT SIGNATURE:
NAME (please print):
TITLE (please print):
DATE SIGNED:

#329829 v10/2700/10090

[ * 1 Indicates that information has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to a request for
confidential treatment.
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Exhibit 31.1
I, Martin F. Roper, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of The Boston Beer Company, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements
made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f))for the registrant
and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared,

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision,
to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness
of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect,
the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely
to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: May 11, 2006

/s/ Martin F. Roper

Martin F. Roper

President and Chief Executive Officer
[Principal Executive Officer]




Exhibit 31.2
I, William F. Urich, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of The Boston Beer Company, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements
made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant
and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared,

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision,
to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness
of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect,
the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely
to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: May 11, 2006

/s/ William F. Urich
William F. Urich

Chief Financial Officer
[Principal Financial Officer]




Exhibit 32.1

The Boston Beer Company, Inc.

Certification Pursuant To
18 U.S.C. Section 1350,
As Adopted Pursuant To
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report of The Boston Beer Company, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the period ended April 1, 2006 as filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “Report”), I, Martin F. Roper, President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to
Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18, United States Code, that this Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 and that the information contained in this Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of
operations of the Company.

Date: May 11, 2006
/s/ Martin F. Roper

Martin F. Roper
President and Chief Executive Officer

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906, or other document authenticating, acknowledging, or otherwise adopting the signature that
appears in typed form within the electronic version of this written statement required by Section 906, has been provided to The Boston Beer Company, Inc.
and will be retained by The Boston Beer Company, Inc. and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.



Exhibit 32.2

The Boston Beer Company, Inc.

Certification Pursuant To
18 U.S.C. Section 1350,
As Adopted Pursuant To
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report of The Boston Beer Company, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the period ended April 1, 2006 as filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “Report”), I, William F. Urich, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to Section 1350 of
Chapter 63 of Title 18, United States Code, that this Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934 and that the information contained in this Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
Company.

Date: May 11, 2006
/s/ William F. Urich

William F. Urich
Chief Financial Officer

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906, or other document authenticating, acknowledging, or otherwise adopting the signature that
appears in typed form within the electronic version of this written statement required by Section 906, has been provided to The Boston Beer Company, Inc.
and will be retained by The Boston Beer Company, Inc. and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.
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